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Preface 

 

This Practice Aid has been prepared to assist the Florida independent auditor in obtaining 

an understanding of the compliance issues that may be addressed in an audit of a Florida 

charter school including testing and reporting matters.  

 

This Practice Aid provides listings or examples of statutory and other legal references 

pertinent to charter school audits.  Although this Practice Aid does not address charter 

technical career centers created pursuant to Section 1002.34, F.S., many of the audit 

requirements described herein are also applicable to charter technical career centers.  

However, auditors of charter technical career centers should not assume that statutory or 

other legal references provided herein are applicable to charter technical career centers.  

 

This Practice Aid does not represent or establish professional standards in auditing and is 

not an authoritative professional reference source.  Accordingly, it should be used only in 

conjunction with generally accepted auditing standards and other authoritative guidelines. 

 

Copyright (c) 2016 Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
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Introduction 

 

This Practice Aid is designed to assist those CPAs involved, or contemplating involvement, 

in charter school audits.  This Practice Aid is one result of the FICPA’s dedication to 

improvement in professional practices. 

 

The Committee's intent is to share with auditors and the staff of the charter schools and 

charter school sponsors the complex array of information that it has gathered concerning 

reporting and compliance requirements applicable to Florida’s charter schools.   

 

Charter schools were established in response to the desire and need for alternative 

education opportunities within structured legal confinements.  

 
Charter schools are required to operate under a charter with a sponsor.  The sponsor may 

be the local school district or a State university.  They may meet the requirements to be a 

component unit of their sponsor and have specific reporting requirements from their 

sponsor in addition to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).  Pursuant to the 

charter, various types of entities may operate charter schools, including but not limited to, 

not-for-profit organizations, municipalities, and state colleges.   

 

This Practice Aid is primarily directed toward auditors who have been contracted to provide 

independent audits of charter schools.  It is not intended to be an audit program for 

compliance or generally accepted auditing standards (“GAAS”) purposes.  Rather, it serves 

as an aid to inform the auditor about compliance and GAAS requirements and how to locate 

them.  It is not all inclusive in content; rather, it is intended to stimulate and provoke 

thought in developing audit plans and programs.  We recommend that each auditor, from 

the partner to the entry-level staff, study this Practice Aid. 

 

Internal auditors and other accountants involved with charter schools, including sponsor’s 

staff, will find this aid useful as a practical resource manual.  Its overview of the audit 

requirements for reporting and compliance determination will assist in supporting audits 

from the client's perspective.  It should assist in the understanding of what information is 

needed by the auditors.  It is also recommended as a staff-training tool. 
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Historical Background 

 

Early Beginnings  

In the early 1990s, Florida committed to the concept of systemic educational reform and has 

never looked back. Fanning the reform movement was an almost universal recognition of 

the need to ensure higher student achievement levels in public education. Florida’s major 

reform initiatives included establishing higher academic standards, providing parents more 

educational choices, and ensuring real accountability for results.  Charter schools are 

independent public schools of choice, created on the basis of an agreement or “charter” 

between a group of school organizers and a sponsoring body.  

 

Charter schools are granted flexibility in providing expanded learning experiences to meet 

the individual educational needs of each student by using innovative learning methods. In 

return, they are held accountable for measurable results and educational outcomes. Since 

Minnesota enacted the first charter law in 1991, charter schools have had a significant role 

in educational reform throughout the nation.  

 

Early charter school advocates understood that transformation of Florida’s public education 

must occur. Their hope for charter schools was threefold. First, charter schools would 

improve student learning and increase parental choice. Second, charter schools would 

improve the public education system through competition and dissemination of innovative 

practices. And third, charter schools would allow local groups to establish schools with 

unique philosophies and to meet needs without the burdensome bureaucratic procedures 

and rules required of traditional public schools.  

 

Charter school legislation was first introduced in the Florida Legislature in 1995 but failed 

to pass. The necessary groundwork was laid, however, enabling the charter school 

movement to gain momentum and a wider support base among Florida citizens. As a 

promising initiative, the concepts of innovation, flexibility, student performance, and local 

decision-making found in charter schools were consistent with Florida’s statewide plan for 

school reform and accountability.  

 

In May 1996, legislation authorizing the creation of charter schools as a part of Florida’s 

state system of public education was officially signed into law. The law specifically charged 

charter schools to improve educational opportunities for low-performing students, increase 

parental choice, influence the traditional public school system, and foster innovation. The 

concept received overwhelming support in the legislature, with a vote of 96 - 18 in the 

House of Representatives and 32 - 8 in the Florida Senate. 

  

Florida’s charter school law took effect July 1, 1996. Within months after approval by the 

Florida Legislature, the law’s impact on the public school system began to be realized. 

Charter applications were submitted and approved by school boards in Dade, Escambia, 

Leon, Polk and Walton school districts, resulting in five charter schools enrolling almost 

350 students and opening their doors for the 1996-97 school year. At the same time, 

applications for charter schools were announced in twelve additional school districts and 

applications were being developed in at least seven others.  
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Since the first year of operation of charter schools, Florida has experienced the rapid 

expansion of charter schools throughout the state. Every subsequent year has shown an 

increase in the number of charter schools operating in the state, as well as in the number of 

students enrolled in charter schools. For the 2015-16 school year, approximately 270,000 

students were enrolled in 652 charter schools in 46 school districts.1 In the 2016-17 fiscal 

year, Florida ranked third in the nation in the number of operating charter schools.2   

 

Pursuant to Section 1002.33(1), F.S., charter schools are part of the state’s program of 

public education and all charter schools in Florida are public schools.  A charter school may 

be formed by creating a new school or converting an existing public school to charter status.  

A public school may not use the term charter in its name unless it has been approved. 

 

The terms and conditions for the operation of a charter school are set forth by the sponsor 

and the applicant in a written contractual agreement, called a charter.  Section 

1002.33(6)(b), F.S. provides that a sponsor shall receive and review all charter school 

applications using an evaluation instrument developed by the Florida Department of 

Education.   

 

Charter school applications may be submitted pursuant to Section 1002.33(6), F.S.  If the 

sponsor denies or fails to act on the application, the applicant may appeal to the State 

Board of Education pursuant to Section 1002.33(6)(c), F.S.  In order to ensure fiscal 

responsibility, a charter school application must include a full accounting of expected 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, and an expense projection 

that includes a full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up costs.   

 

Pursuant to Section 1002.331(3)(a), F.S., a high-performing charter school may submit an 

application pursuant to Section 1002.33(6) in any school district in the state to establish 

and operate a new charter school that will substantially replicate its educational program. 

A sponsor can only deny an application submitted by a high-performing charter school 

under limited circumstances and must provide, in writing to the applicant and the Florida 

Department of Education, the specific reasons for denial of the application.  If the sponsor 

fails to act on the application within 60 days (90 days, effective for the 2017-18 fiscal year) 

after receipt, the application is deemed approved.  

 

 

 

                                                 
1 Source: Florida Department of Education Fast Facts & Program Statistics charter schools document. 
2
 Source: National Alliance for Public Charter Schools 

http://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2011/1002.33
http://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2011/1002.33
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General Audit Considerations 

 

General Audit Requirements 

Florida law clearly recognizes the importance of financial accountability by entities 

operating for public benefit.  To accomplish that objective, applicable law prescribes a series 

of reporting and independent verification procedures to ensure that entities accurately and 

fully account for the public resources entrusted to their care.  Charter schools are tuition- 

free and are supported primarily through state education funds. 

 

Specific legal requirements for audits are set forth in Section 218.39, F.S., and Chapter 

10.850, Rules of the Auditor General.  Section 1002.33(6)(b)5., F.S., allows the deferral of 

start-up operations up to two years from application approval for adequate facility 

planning; however, if the charter school receives or expends any financial resources, an 

audit is required even though the school is not yet operating. 

 

As required by Section 218.39, F.S., each charter school must obtain an independent annual 

financial audit performed in accordance with the Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor 

General.  As defined in Section 218.31, F.S., the term "financial audit" means "an 

examination of financial statements in order to express an opinion on the fairness with 

which they are presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and 

an examination to determine whether operations are properly conducted in accordance with 

legal and regulatory requirements." 

 

Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General, requires the audit to be conducted under 

Government Auditing Standards (the Yellow Book) in addition to generally accepted 

auditing standards.  The fundamental purpose of the required financial audit is to provide 

independent assurance to the citizens and to other affected parties, such as bondholders, 

debt rating institutions, and other governmental units, that the financial reports prepared 

by the reporting charter school fully accounts, in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, for the financial transactions affecting the public resources entrusted 

to their stewardship.  In providing such assurances, the independent auditor must 

understand and give adequate consideration to a number of legal requirements, generally 

accepted auditing standards, generally accepted government auditing standards, and 

generally accepted accounting principles before expressing an opinion on the financial 

reports of the audited entity.  

 

Auditor Requirements 

Because charter school audits are conducted under Government Auditing Standards, 

auditors and audit firms must comply with the various requirements of the Yellow Book in 

addition to the State of Florida’s licensure requirements.  See Exhibit I for further 

information. 

 

Independence 

Independence must be met under Government Auditing Standards and the independence 

standards of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).  Government 

Auditing Standards establish a conceptual framework that auditors should use to identify, 

evaluate, and apply safeguards to address threats to independence. Threats to 

independence are circumstances that could impair independence.  Independence is 
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impaired if there are no safeguards available to eliminate the threats or reduce them to an 

acceptable level.     

Auditors may be able to provide certain nonaudit services without impairing independence 

if (1) the nonaudit services are not expressly prohibited, (2) the auditor has determined that 

the requirements for performing the nonaudit services have been met, and (3) any 

significant threats to independence have been eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level 

through the application of safeguards.  Other specified nonaudit services will always impair 

an auditor’s independence.  The Yellow Book should be obtained and consulted for specific 

independence requirements.  See Appendix I for the web address for the electronic version. 

The AICPA made changes to its Code of Professional Conduct (Code), including revisions to 

the independence standards, effective for engagements covering periods beginning on or 

after December 15, 2014.  These revisions more closely align the AICPA independence 

standards with the Yellow Book; however, there are still some differences.  CPAs should 

refer to Part 1, Sections 1.000, 1.100 and 1.200 of the Code. Both the Yellow Book and the 

Code require specific documentation requirements.  CPAs should ensure that these 

documentation requirements are complied with.  These include: 

 

a) Documenting threats to independence that require the application of 

safeguards, along with the safeguards applied. 

b) Documenting management’s ability to effectively oversee nonaudit services; 

including whether management possesses the suitable skills, knowledge, or 

experience, and 

c) Documenting the understanding established with the audited entity 

regarding the nonaudit services to be performed. 

 

Licensure 

Individual Florida CPAs are required to hold a current, valid license from the State of 

Florida in order to perform audits.  In addition, firms, including sole proprietors, are 

required to be separately licensed. 

 

Out-of-State CPAs and CPA Firms are required to obtain a non-resident temporary practice 

permit to perform an audit in Florida.  Permits are required prior to the start of the audit 

and applications are made through the Florida Department of Business and Professional 

Regulation.  

 

Licensees must comply with several rules including Florida Board of Accountancy Rule 

61H1-22.001 Competence (General Standards).  This rule may be found on the Florida 

Administrative Weekly and Florida Administrative Code Web site https://www.flrules.org/. 

 

Type of Entities and Reporting Models 

Charter schools may be created in a number of different corporate forms. The form of entity 

under which the school exists and the type of sponsor oversight will largely determine the 

reporting model used by the charter school. This is a primary planning consideration in the 

audit of the charter school. The auditor must determine the type of organization for the 

school, the entity type of the sponsor, and the reporting requirements imposed by the 

sponsor. 

 

https://www.flrules.org/
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The charter contract with the sponsor will specify financial reporting and timing.  However, 

it is advisable for the auditor to communicate directly with the sponsor’s financial 

statement users to determine all significant terms of the requirements for financial 

reporting and any subsequent refinements to such requirements. 

 

The auditor will need to communicate with the sponsor to determine whether the charter is 

considered a component unit and how the component unit will be presented in the sponsor’s 

financial statements. 

 

A Florida charter school must be organized as or operated by a not-for-profit corporation 

per Section 1002.33(12)(i), F.S., but reporting can vary depending on the situation. A 

municipality or other public entity may also operate a charter school. 

 

Auditors must consult these sources for guidance as to which type of entity the charter 

school is and which reporting model is appropriate: 

 Florida Statutes  

 Section 10.855, Rules of the Auditor General 

 AICPA Audit Guide for Not-for-Profit Organizations 

 

There are two possible reporting models used for charter schools: 

 Governmental (GASB Statement No. 34 format or GASB Statement No. 35 for 

colleges and universities) (see Exhibits VIII and IX) 

 Not-for-profit (FASB ASC 958-205-55 format) (see Exhibit X) 

 

Per the AICPA Audit Guide for Not-for-Profit Organizations, paragraph 1.03: 

 

Nongovernmental organizations are all organizations other than 

governmental organizations. Public corporations and bodies corporate and 

politic are governmental organizations. Other organizations are 

governmental organizations if they have one or more of the following 

characteristics: 

 

a. Popular election of officers or appointment (or approval) of a 

controlling majority of the members of the organization's governing 

body by officials of one or more state or local governments; 

b. The potential for unilateral dissolution by a government with the net 

assets reverting to a government; or 

c. The power to enact and enforce a tax levy. 

 

Furthermore, organizations are presumed to be governmental if they have 

the ability to issue directly (rather than through a state or municipal 

authority) debt that pays interest exempt from federal taxation. However, 

organizations possessing only that ability (to issue tax-exempt debt) and none 

of the other governmental characteristics may rebut the presumption that 

they are governmental if their determination is supported by compelling, 

relevant evidence. 
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There are charter contracts that contain a requirement for b. above, stating that upon 

termination of the charter contract, all assets purchased with public funds revert to the 

sponsor. Therefore, schools that are separate legal entities and that have this language in 

their charter contracts are governmental not-for-profit organizations and must be presented 

in accordance with the governmental accounting model. 

 

When a charter school is operated by a pre-existing entity (a nonprofit or governmental 

entity), the financial reporting for the school should be consistent with the reporting model 

used for the operating entity. 

 

Different Types of Charter Schools as Component Units 

A charter school shall organize as, or be operated by, a nonprofit organization or a 

municipality or other public entity and have a contract or charter with the sponsor (in most 

instances this is a school district). 

The governing body of the charter school is usually in the form of an independent board of 

directors.  The Board is either made up of teachers, parents, community members or 

operate in conjunction with local museums, colleges, universities, school districts, or 

municipalities.   

The governing body of the charter school is not limited in the number of charter schools it 

operates.  However, each charter school must report to the sponsor separately, unless more 

than one school is covered by one charter; in that situation, a combined or consolidated 

financial statement may be necessary (consult with the sponsor for guidance).  The 

reporting requirements include, but are not limited to, an annual financial audit, program 

cost report, and an annual progress report.  Charter schools may also be subject to the 

Federal Single Audit Act, but are generally exempt from the Florida Single Audit Act.  FTE 

revenues through the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP) are not considered grant 

funding for purposes of the Florida Single Audit Act.  

 

Each charter school that is a separate legal entity is generally considered a “component 

unit” of the sponsor because the sponsor is financially accountable for the charter school, as 

the charter school is established by approval of the charter, which is tantamount to the 

initial appointment of the charter school’s board, and there is the potential for it to impose 

specific financial burdens on the sponsor.3  Charter schools that are component units should 

be included in the sponsor’s financial statements.  The school’s charter with the sponsor 

generally provides for a due date for submission of the audited financial statements to the 

sponsor, generally within 2 ½ to 3 months after the school’s year-end. 

 

Examples of financial statement presentation under the governmental and the not-for-

profit reporting models are included at Exhibits VIII, IX, and X. 

                                                 
3
 January 10, 2014, Florida Department of Education memorandum 
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Accounting and Financial Reporting 

 

Financial and Program Cost Accounting and Reporting for Florida Schools 

(Redbook) 

In accordance with Section 1002.33(9)(g), F.S., in order to provide financial information that 

is comparable to that reported for other public schools, a charter school must maintain all 

financial records that constitute its accounting system in accordance with the accounts and 

codes prescribed in the most recent issuance of the publication titled “Financial and 

Program Cost Accounting and Reporting for Florida Schools” or more commonly known as 

the “Redbook”.  However, at the discretion of the charter school governing board, a charter 

school may elect to follow generally accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit 

organizations, but must reformat this information for reporting in accordance with the 

state-required formats for inclusion in the sponsor’s financial statements.  The uniform 

chart of accounts provided for in the Redbook prescribes the account structure for fund level 

reporting.  Usually, conversion entries are made for financial reporting purposes to convert 

these fund level financial statements to the government-wide financial statements. 

 

The Redbook is incorporated by reference in Florida Department of Education Rule 

6A-1.001, Florida Administrative Code, and provides charter schools with a uniform chart 

of accounts for budgeting and financial reporting purposes.  Topics addressed within the 

Redbook include governmental accounting standards, program cost accounting and 

reporting, and school internal funds.  

 

It is essential when performing an audit of a charter school that the Redbook be reviewed 

and the requirements understood.  The latest version of the Redbook is available on the 

Florida Department of Education Web site at http://www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp.  

 

Government Accounting 

When reported as a governmental unit, the charter school presents two types of financial 

statements: fund and government-wide financial statements.  The following paragraphs are 

explanations of the two types of statements required under government reporting.  The 

Governmental Accounting, Auditing, and Financial Reporting, (the Blue Book) published by 

the Governmental Finance Officers Association is an excellent resource document for 

practical guidance. 

 

Fund Financial Statements 

When reported as a governmental unit, charter schools use fund accounting to ensure and 

demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  A fund is defined as a 

fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and other 

financial resources together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, 

and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities 

or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or 

limitations. 

 

The basic fund structure for Florida school districts and charter schools follows generally 

accepted accounting principles for governments.  There is no limit to the number of funds 

an entity may use for accounting and financial reporting purposes; however, a basic 

principle of governmental accounting states that only the minimum number of funds 

consistent with legal and operating requirements should be established. 

http://www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp
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Governmental Funds - Governmental funds typically are used to account for tax-supported 

activities.  This includes funds obtained from state and federal sources.  Governmental 

funds focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on 

balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.   

 

The following fund types are considered governmental funds: 

 

General Fund - This is the chief operating fund of the charter school.  A general fund 

should be used to account for all financial resources except those required to be 

accounted for in another fund. 

 

Special Revenue Funds - These funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific 

revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified 

purposes other than debt service or capital projects.  An example of a special 

revenue fund for a charter school would be a fund used to account for federal, state, 

or local and private grant proceeds and the related expenditures. 

 

Debt Service Funds - These funds are used to account for the accumulation of 

resources for and the payment of general long-term debt principal and interest. 

Generally, the use of a debt service fund is not required; however, it may be legally 

mandated in accordance with the debt provisions. 

 

Capital Project Funds - These funds are used to account for financial resources used 

for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities.  An example of a capital 

project fund for a charter school would be a fund used to account for the proceeds 

and related expenditure of Charter School Capital Outlay funding received through 

the charter school’s sponsor. 

 

Permanent Funds - These funds are used to report resources that are legally 

restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for 

purposes that support the charter school’s programs.  A permanent fund would be 

used to account for an endowment. 

 

Proprietary Funds - The use of proprietary funds is rare for charter schools.  Proprietary 

funds are used to account for a charter school’s activities that are supported, at least in 

part, by fees or charges.  Proprietary funds focus on limitations on the use of net 

position rather than on the source of its assets.   

 

The following fund types are considered proprietary funds: 

 

Enterprise Funds - These funds are used to account for any activity for which a fee is 

charged to external users to cover the costs of goods or services provided. 

 

Internal Service Funds - These funds are used to account for any activity that 

provides goods or services to other funds, departments, or component units of the 

charter school on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
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Fiduciary Funds - These funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency 

capacity for others and therefore cannot be used to support the charter school’s own 

programs.    

 

The following fund types are considered fiduciary funds: 

 

Pension Trust Funds - These funds should account for the net position held in trust 

for the members and beneficiaries of defined benefit pension plans, defined 

contribution plans, other postemployment benefit plans, or other employee benefit 

plans. 

 

Investment Trust Funds - These funds should be used to account for external 

investment pools that a charter school sponsors. 

 

Private-purpose Trust Funds - These funds should be used to account for the 

activities of any trust arrangement under which principal and income benefit 

specific individuals, private organizations, or other governments. 

 

Agency Funds - These funds are used to account for activities that do not involve 

trust arrangements, whereby the charter school’s role is purely custodial in nature 

such as receipt, temporary investment, and remittance of fiduciary resources to 

individuals, private organizations, or other governments.  Accordingly, all assets 

reported in an agency fund are offset by liability; therefore, no revenues or expenses 

are reported. An example of an agency fund for a charter school would include the 

accounting for the activities of a parent/teacher organization or booster club. 

 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 

Government-wide financial statements report information for the charter school as a whole, 

except for its fiduciary funds, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  All 

activities included within the government-wide financial statements, both governmental 

and business-type, are measured and reported using the economic resources measurement 

focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds, however, measure and 

report activities using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 

accrual basis of accounting. As a result, the data reported in the governmental fund 

financial statements must be converted to the economic resources measurement focus and 

the accrual basis of accounting before those data can be reported as governmental activities 

in the government-wide financial statements. This conversion is presented as a 

reconciliation in connection with the governmental fund financial statements. 

 

Nonprofit Accounting 

Unlike charter schools that report as a governmental unit, charter schools that report as a 

nonprofit account for the entity as a whole and use the accrual basis of accounting for 

reporting.   

 

Nonprofit financial reporting objectives are discussed in FASB ASC 958-205-05. According 

to FASB ASC 958-205-05-3, the primary purpose of financial statements is to provide 

relevant information to meet the common interests of donors, members, creditors, and 

others who provide resources to not-for-profit organizations. Similar to the objectives 

outlined in Statements of Financial Accounting Concept (SFAC) No. 4, FASB ASC 958-205-
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05-3 states that external users desire to assess (a) the services a not-for-profit organization 

provides and its ability to continue to provide those services and (b) how managers 

discharge their stewardship responsibilities and other aspects of their performance. More 

specifically, the purpose of nonprofit financial reporting is to provide information about:  

 

1. the amount and nature of a not-for-profit organization’s assets, liabilities, and net 

assets; 

2. the effects of transactions and other events and circumstances that change the 

amount and nature of net assets; 

3. the amount and kinds of inflows and outflows of economic resources during a period 

and the relationship between the inflows and outflows; 

4. how a not-for-profit organization obtains and spends its cash; its borrowing and 

repayment of borrowing; and other factors that may affect its liquidity; and 

5. the service efforts of a not-for-profit organization. 

 

Sources of Revenue and Support 

As public schools, charter schools are not allowed to charge tuition, and are primarily 

funded from state funding passed through to local school districts according to enrollment.  

Additional sources of revenue come from federal funding, such as Title I and Special 

Education monies, for eligible students. 

 

State Funding 

In accordance with Section 1002.33(17), F.S., Students enrolled in a charter school are 

funded the same as students enrolled in other public schools in the school district, 

regardless of sponsorship.  This funding includes state monies received by the school 

district from the Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP).  This is the primary funding 

source for the operating costs of charter schools. These funds are generated by multiplying 

the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) students in each of the funded education 

programs by cost factors to obtain weighted FTEs.  Weighted FTEs are then multiplied by a 

base student allocation and by a district cost differential in the major calculation to 

determine the base funding for the charter school from FEFP funds.  A sample FEFP 

revenue estimate worksheet can be found at Exhibit XI.  Also included are monies provided 

by the legislature for specific purposes provided that the charter school meets the 

conditions for use of these monies.  The following are examples of those revenue sources:4   

 

Safe Schools - Funds to be expended on safe schools activities such as: (1) after-

school programs for middle school students; (2) other improvements to enhance the 

learning environment, including implementation of conflict resolution strategies; (3) 

alternative school programs for adjudicated youth; (4) suicide prevention programs; 

and (5) other improvements to make the school a safe place to learn. 

 

Instructional Materials - Funding allocation for instructional materials. At least 

50% of the annual allocation must be used to purchase instructional materials on 

the state-adopted list. Up to 50% may be used for the purchase of instructional 

materials, including library and reference books and non-print materials, not 

                                                 
4
 It should be noted that the annual General Appropriations Acts often impose additional restrictions or allow 

additional uses of these revenue sources.  Consequently, it is recommended that the practitioner consult the General 

Appropriations Act applicable to the fiscal year under audit.  
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included on the state-adopted list and for the repair and renovation of textbooks and 

library books. 

 

School Recognition Funds - Funding awarded to schools that sustain high 

performance or demonstrate substantial improvement in student performance. 

 

Excellent Teaching Program - Revenues received in the amount of the employer’s 

share of Social Security and Medicare taxes for those teachers who qualify for 

national board certification and receive bonuses in accordance with Section 1012.72, 

F.S.  

 

Reading Programs - Revenue received for intensive reading programs targeted at 

improving the reading proficiency of students. 

 

Finally, another major source of state funding comes in the form of Charter School Capital 

Outlay Funding.  Unlike other state funding sources, Charter School Capital Outlay 

Funding is not based on a proportionate share of monies available to each district school 

board.   Section 1013.62(1)(c), contains the calculation methodology, which is mostly based 

upon FTE counts and free and reduced-price lunch percentages.  In accordance with Section 

1013.62(1), F.S., “in each year in which funds are appropriated for charter school capital 

outlay purposes, the Commissioner of Education shall allocate the funds among eligible 

charter schools.” This money can be used by eligible schools for the purchase of real 

property: the construction of school facilities; the purchase, lease purchase, or lease of 

permanent or re-locatable school facilities; the purchase of vehicles to transport students; 

and renovation, repair, and/or maintenance of school facilities that the charter school owns 

or is purchasing through a lease-purchase or long-term lease of 5 years or longer.  To be 

eligible for a funding allocation, a charter school must have an annual audit that does not 

reveal any of the financial emergency conditions provided in Section 218.503(1), F.S., for 

the most recent fiscal year for which such audit results are available.  

 

Additionally, effective for the 2017-18 fiscal year, charter schools shall receive a portion of 

the local capital improvement ad valorem tax revenues levied by the District School Board 

sponsor pursuant to Section 1011.71, F.S., as calculated by the Florida Department of 

Education (FDOE).  

 

Federal Funding 

Operating and capital monies may also be received through the state from the federal 

government. The most common forms of assistance received by charter schools are as 

follows: 

 

Charter School Startup and Implementation Grant Program - Federal grant funding 

available through the Public Charter Schools Program to help new charter schools pay 

for planning, design, and start-up costs. 

 

Title I Grants - These funds provide financial assistance to schools with a high number 

or percentage of economically disadvantaged children to help meet the educational 

needs of children who are failing, or most at risk of failing, to meet challenging 

academic standards. 
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Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) - This program aims to strengthen 

academic expectations and accountability of children with disabilities by helping cover 

the extra costs of serving these children. 

 

National School Lunch and School Breakfast Programs - Federal reimbursement 

distributed for low-cost or free breakfasts and lunches. 

  

 

Budgeting 

In accordance with Section 1002.33(9)(h), F.S., the governing board of the charter school 

must annually adopt and maintain a budget for the charter school’s operations.  It is this 

budget that determines what management may spend for day-to-day expenses.  Pursuant to 

Section 1002.33(9)(p), F.S., a charter school must maintain the budget on its Web site. 

  

Capitalized Assets 

Included within the Redbook is an appendix that establishes criteria to help the charter 

school distinguish between supplies and equipment.  An equipment item is a material unit 

that meets all of the following conditions: 

 

1. It retains its original shape and appearance with use. 

2. It is nonexpendable, in that it is usually more feasible to repair it rather than 

replace it with an entirely new unit. 

3. It represents an investment of money that makes it feasible and advisable to 

capitalize the item. 

4. It does not lose its identity through incorporation into a different or more complex 

unit or substance. 

 

If the item does not meet all of the above conditions, the item should be categorized as a 

supply item. 

 

Monthly Financial Statement 

Pursuant to Section 1002.33(9)(g), F.S., each charter school not designated as a  

high-performing charter school is required to provide a monthly financial statement to its 

sponsor.  High-performing charter schools may provide a quarterly financial statement.  

The financial statement must contain a balance sheet and a statement of revenue, 

expenditures, and changes in fund balance.  
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Auditing 

 

Considerations Related to Audit Planning 

The following is a list of possible considerations for audit planning.  This is not intended to 

be a comprehensive listing. 

 

 Condition of accounting records 

 Component unit determination 

 Board involvement (level of knowledge and oversight) 

 Related party transactions 

 Budget adoption and monitoring 

 Financial condition 

 Determination of sources of revenue 

 Internal audit or extent of oversight by the sponsor 

 

Financial Auditing 

Scope of the Annual Financial Audit (Section 10.855, Rules of the Auditor General) 

As required by the Auditor General, the scope of a “financial audit” shall include: 

 

1. An examination of financial statements to determine whether they are 

presented, in all material respects, in conformity with generally accepted 

accounting principles. 

2. An examination to determine whether operations are properly conducted in 

accordance with legal and regulatory requirements. 

3. An examination of any additional financial information necessary to comply with 

generally accepted accounting principles.   

 

Financial statement presentation requirements for charter schools are located in Section 

10.855, Rules of the Auditor General, paragraphs 3-5, and 7.  Additional requirements 

regarding Yellow Book, Federal Single Audit Act audits, and compliance with select Florida 

statutes are provided in paragraphs 9 - 13 of the same Rule. 

 

Government Auditing Standards (Yellow Book) 

Auditors of charter schools should be familiar with Government Auditing Standards as it 

impacts all charter school audits.  See Exhibit I for further information on the Yellow Book. 

 

Financial Condition – Required Communications 

Section 218.39(5), F.S., provides that, at the conclusion of the audit, the auditor shall notify 

each member of the governing body of a charter school or charter technical center for which:  

 

1. Deteriorating financial conditions exist that may cause a condition described in 

Section 218.503(1), F.S., to occur if actions are not taken to address such conditions; 

or  

 

2. A fund balance deficit in total or a deficit for that portion of a fund balance not 

classified as restricted, committed, or nonspendable, or a total or unrestricted net 

assets deficit, as reported on the fund financial statements of entities required to 

report under governmental financial reporting standards or on the basic financial 
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statements of entities required to report under not-for-profit financial reporting 

standards, for which sufficient resources of the charter school or charter technical 

career center, as reported on the fund financial statements, are not available to 

cover the deficit.  

 

Single Audits 

In addition to the annual financial audits required under Section 218.39, F.S., the charter 

school may also be required to have an annual audit of their federal awards under the 

Federal Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996.  Significant changes have been recently 

made to the Single Audit requirements.  Effective for audit engagements for which the 

auditee fiscal year begins on or after December 26, 2014, authoritative guidance is 

contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 

(Uniform Guidance).  CPAs should become familiar with these requirements, as they 

impact audit requirements, major program and minimum coverage thresholds, compliance 

requirements, and reporting requirements.  Specific audit requirements applicable to 

federal awards programs may be found in the Compliance Supplement for Single Audits 

and in the grant documents applicable to awards not covered by the Compliance 

Supplement.  Requirements identified in these publications may be divided into the 

categories of general requirements, applicable to the general operations of the charter 

school, and program specific requirements.  Additional guidance concerning the audit of 

these programs may be found in the AICPA’s Audit and Accounting Guide - Government 

Auditing Standards and Single Audits which contains chapters (5 – 14) devoted to the 

Uniform Guidance. 

 

The Florida Department of Education provides various grants to charter schools and 

promulgates their requirements for application and amendment procedures in their 

publication Project Application and Amendment Procedures for Federal and State Programs 

- Green Book 2015 located on the Florida Department of Education Web site 

(http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-

application-amendment-procedur.stml) under Finance/Comptroller.  This publication 

describes the project application and amendment procedures for state and federal projects 

administered by the Florida Department of Education.  It is not intended to encompass all 

requirements that may pertain to any specific project.  Recipients of funding are expected to 

be aware of program-specific requirements that may pertain to their particular funding 

source; however, some of the more common documents related to program administration 

and compliance are listed in this publication. 

 

For those federal programs funded by the United States Department of Education, there 

are also published regulations for which the auditor should be aware.  The Code of Federal 

Regulations (CFR) is a codification of the general and permanent rules published in the 

Federal Register by the executive director and agencies of the federal government.  Title 

34-Education is the codification of the United States Department of Education’s rules and is 

referred to as EDGAR (Education Department General Administrative Regulations) and 

can be found on the United States Department of Education’s Web site at 

www2.ed.gov/policy/fund/reg/edgarReg/edgar.html. 

  

 

 

http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml
http://www2.ed.gov/policy/fund/reg/edgarReg/edgar.html
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Compliance Auditing 

 

An integral part of a charter school audit is the requirement to ascertain whether the school’s 

operations are properly conducted in accordance with legal and regulatory requirements.   Audit 

planning should consider, at a minimum, the following: 

 

A) Charter School Contract or Charter 

B) Rules of the Auditor General 

C) Contractual Obligations  

D) Florida Statutes  

E) Florida Administrative Code 

 

A compliance program should be constructed addressing the various elements of compliance that 

impact the charter school.  A sample compliance checklist is provided in Exhibit III.  This 

checklist is not intended to be all inclusive and some items may not apply to every 

situation. 

 

Guidance follows addressing the above-noted regulatory requirements.  More detailed guidance 

on these and other regulatory requirements is located in Exhibits II and III. 

 

Charter School Contract or Charter 
Government Auditing Standards requires testing and reporting on internal control over 

financial reporting and on compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 

agreements and other matters.  One of the most important documents that imposes the 

greatest inherent risk is the charter school’s contract or charter with the sponsor.  Each 

charter contains a minimum of requirements as detailed in Section 1002.33, F.S.  However, 

each sponsor may impose additional reporting requirements if they provide reasonable and 

specific justification.  Effective for the 2017-18 fiscal year, the sponsor and charter school 

governing board are required to use a standard charter contract prepared by the FDOE 

pursuant to Section 1002.33(21), F.S., and any term or condition of a proposed charter 

contract that differs from the standard contract is presumed a limitation on charter school 

flexibility.   
 

Rules of the Auditor General  

These Rules are intended to implement, interpret, or make specific, certain statutory 

provisions that are within the authority of the Auditor General.  All Auditor General Rules, 

together with other audit-related guidance, are available on the Auditor General’s Web site 

at http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/.  

 

Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General, was developed to implement various 

provisions of Sections 11.45, 218.39 and 1002.33, F.S.  These laws require the charter 

schools to submit their annual financial report to the Auditor General for review. 

 

Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General, recognizes the authoritative hierarchy 

established by the AICPA and the Comptroller General of the United States to set financial 

reporting and auditing standards.  Those financial reporting and auditing standards are 

incorporated into the Rules by reference.  

 

http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/
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Section 10.856, Rules of the Auditor General, provides the contents of the audit report 

required to be filed with the Auditor General for review, including the auditor’s reports on 

the financial statements, internal control and compliance, and other audit reports required 

pursuant to other federal laws (Single Audit); a management letter; audited financial 

statements and required supplementary information, prepared in accordance with GAAP; 

and a written statement of explanation or rebuttal.  A report submittal checklist (see 

Exhibit XII) is available on the Auditor General’s Web site under Rules and Guidelines to 

ensure all required information is filed with the Auditor General’s office. 

 

Section 10.857, Rules of the Auditor General, provides guidance on the time frame for 

submitting the audited financial report and other items.   

 

 When a financial audit reveals that one or more of the conditions specified in Section 

218.503(1), F.S., have occurred or will occur if action is not taken to assist the 

charter school, the auditor must notify the governing body of the charter school, the 

sponsor, and the Commissioner of Education within seven business days after the 

finding is made. 

 One paper copy and an electronic copy of the audit report are required to be 

submitted to the Auditor General within 45 days after delivery of the report to the 

school’s governing body.   

 The date that the audit report was delivered to the school’s governing body must be 

included in the correspondence accompanying the audit report (see Report Submittal 

Checklist on the Auditor General’s Web site noted above). 

 

Contractual Obligations 

Generally, charter schools are subject to various compliance requirements as a result of 

debt issuances, grants, intergovernmental agreements, and similar contractual 

arrangements.  Care must be taken to become knowledgeable of these compliance 

requirements in order to test compliance as appropriate. 

 

Florida Statutes and Florida Administrative Code  

The Florida Statutes and Florida Administrative Code contain a number of statutes and 

rules that are applicable to charter schools – see Exhibit II for a listing.  Awareness of these 

statutes and rules, and how they impact charter schools, is integral to a charter school 

audit. 

 

A review of applicable parts of the foregoing material prior to and during the compliance 

phase of the audit is essential.  A review of other specialized and general legal publications 

dealing with state law and local government law may also be necessary.  The State 

Constitution, Laws of Florida, and Florida Statutes can be found on the Florida 

Legislature’s “Online Sunshine” Web site at http://www.leg.state.fl.us.  

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/
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Audit Report 

 

The Auditor General has implemented the provisions of Section 218.39, F.S., by adopting 

Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General, which prescribe standards for the auditor’s 

examination of and reports on the financial statements of charter schools.  The Rules have 

also been adopted by and incorporated within the Rules of the State Board of Accountancy. 

 

Audit Report (Section 10.856, Rules of the Auditor General) 

As required by the Auditor General, the audit report must at least include: 

 

1. A table of contents 

2. The auditor’s report on the basic financial statements 

3. The auditor’s report on internal control and compliance 

4. Any reports and related financial information required pursuant to the Federal 

Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 

5. The “management letter” required by Section 218.39(4), F.S., and defined in Rule 

10.854(1)(e) 

6. The basic financial statements with related notes and supplementary 

information required by generally accepted accounting principles 

7. The written statement of explanation or rebuttal required by Section 10.857(2), 

Rules of the Auditor General 

 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

In accordance with Section 10.855(7), Rules of the Auditor General, for those schools 

required to use the governmental reporting model, the basic financial statements should be 

accompanied by management’s discussion and analysis (the “MD&A”).  The MD&A is a 

narrative report presented before the basic financial statements and should introduce the 

basic financial statements and provide analytical overviews of the year’s activity based on 

knowledge of transactions, events and conditions reflected in the statements. 

 

Auditors’ Reports 

In accordance with Section 10.856(2)(b), Rules of the Auditor General, the auditor’s report 

on the basic financial statements and report on internal control and compliance must be 

based on an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 

the United States of America and standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Government Auditing Standards. 

 

Professional Standards AU-C 265 - Communicating Internal Control Related Matters 

Identified in an Audit requires the auditor to communicate control deficiencies that are 

“significant deficiencies” or “material weaknesses” in internal control; provides guidance on 

evaluating the severity of control deficiencies identified in an audit of financial statements; 

and identifies indicators of material weaknesses.  It also includes an appendix that provides 

examples of circumstances that may be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.   

 

The auditor is required to communicate significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 

identified in the audit, in writing, to management and those charged with governance.  This 

includes the significant deficiencies and material weaknesses that were communicated in 

previous audits if they have not yet been remediated.  The body charged with governance 

may take different forms in different entities, for example, a board of directors, a committee 
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of the board of directors (for example, an audit or legislative oversight committee), a 

committee of management (for example, a finance, budget or governmental agency 

executive committee), partners, equivalent persons, or some combination of these parties.  

It also recognizes that in some smaller entities, management and those charged with 

governance may be the same people, for example, the owner of an owner-managed entity.  

 

The written communication is best made by the report release date (the date on which the 

auditor grants permission for the client to use the auditor’s report in connection with the 

financial statements), but should be made no later than 60 days following the report release 

date.  Illustrative written communications to management and those charged with 

governance are provided at Exhibits VI and VII, respectively. 

 

One issue relates to a client’s inability to prepare its financial statements or to review such 

financial statements to ensure that it is in the proper format and contains all the necessary 

disclosures to ensure conformity with the basis of accounting used by that entity. Such 

inability would result in a control deficiency, a significant deficiency, or a material 

weakness.  Following is an excerpt from the AU-C 265 appendix that addresses this issue. 

 

“Employees or management who lack the qualifications and training to 

fulfill their assigned functions. For example, in an entity that prepares 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP), the person responsible for the accounting and 

reporting function lacks the skills and knowledge to apply GAAP in 

recording the entity’s financial transactions or preparing its financial 

statements.”  

 

Making a determination of whether a deficiency in internal control, significant deficiency, 

or material weakness exists depends on the facts and circumstances particular to each 

situation.   

 

Management Letter 

Section 218.39(4), F.S., and Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General, require the 

inclusion of a management letter in each audit report.  The management letter must be 

bound into the audit report provided to the Auditor General, as well as the audit reports 

that the charter school files with the sponsor and for public inspection.  However, the 

management letter is not required to be included in any other audit report, such as that 

submitted pursuant to the GFOA’s Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial 

Reporting Program or to bonding agencies or financial institutions.  Section 10.854(1)(e), 

Rules of the Auditor General, defines the management letter and addresses the elements of 

the management letter as follows: 

 

"Management letter" means a statement of the auditor's comments and recommendations. 

This letter must be prepared and included as a part of each financial audit report pursuant 

to Section 218.39(4), F.S., and Section 10.856(2)(d), Rules of the Auditor General. The 

management letter shall include, but not be limited to: 

1. A statement as to whether corrective actions have been taken to address findings 

and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report, not 

otherwise addressed in the auditor’s report pursuant to Rule 10.856(2)(b).  If an 
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audit finding in the preceding financial audit report is uncorrected, the auditor 

must determine whether the finding was also included in the second preceding 

fiscal year financial audit report.  Uncorrected findings in the current fiscal year 

audit report must cite the finding reference numbers used in the preceding and, 

as applicable, the second preceding financial audit reports.  

2. A statement describing the results of the auditor’s determination as to whether or 

not the charter school has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 

218.503(1), F.S., and identification of the specific condition(s) met [See also 

Section 10.857(2), Rules of the Auditor General.] 

3. Any recommendations to improve the school’s financial management. 

4. Noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that 

have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial 

statements that is less than material but which warrants the attention of those 

charged with governance.  Note: Fraud, noncompliance with provisions of laws or 

regulations and contracts or grant agreements, or abuse that does not warrant the 

attention of those charged with governance, or internal control deficiencies that 

are not material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may be reported in the 

management letter based on professional judgment.  

5. The name or official title of the school. 

6. For charter schools and centers: 

a. A statement that the auditor applied financial condition assessment 

procedures pursuant to Rule 10.855(12). 

b. If deteriorating financial conditions are noted, a statement that the charter 

school’s financial condition is deteriorating and a description of conditions 

causing the auditor to make this conclusion. If the auditor has reported 

that the charter school has met one or more of the conditions specified in 

Section 218.503(1), F.S. (see 2. above), this statement shall indicate 

whether such condition resulted from a deteriorating financial condition. 

Findings regarding deteriorating financial condition shall be prepared in 

accordance with Rule 10.856(3). 

7. For charter schools only, a statement describing the results of the auditor’s 

determination pursuant to Rule 10.855(13) as to whether the charter school 

maintains on its Web site the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), F.S. 

 

The format of the management letter is left up to the option of the auditors as long as it 

contains the required elements. Two example formats can be found at Exhibits IV and V. 

 

Exhibit IV appears to satisfy all the requirements, is an acceptable method, and has been a 

customary practice of some auditors. A single document (schedule) is issued covering all 

compliance matters and other comments (i.e., those matters that are not clearly 

inconsequential, considering both quantitative and qualitative factors) rather than report 

them in the separate reports and letters required by generally accepted government 

auditing standards.  This practice should continue to be acceptable as long as significant 

deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control, and material compliance 

violations, if any, are identified and referenced within the internal control/compliance 
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report, but the comment may be made in the single document where all the findings are 

reported.  

 

Exhibit V is in the form of a letter, on letterhead, and signed by the auditor.  It is a sample 

management letter from the Auditor General’s Web site at http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/ 

under “Rules and Guidelines.”  It addresses all of the requirements of Section 10.854(1)(e), 

Rules of the Auditor General.  

 

Delivery of Audit Report and Management’s Response (Section 10.857, Rules of 

the Auditor General) 

As required by the Auditor General, the audit report must be delivered to the following: 

 

1. School management 

2. Each member of the governing body 

3. School’s sponsor 

4. Each member of the audit committee charged with governance as defined in AICPA 

Professional Standards, AU-C Section 260 

5. Florida Department of Education 

6. Head of the governing body of all component units included in the audit 

 

Also, one paper copy and an electronic copy, including management’s response and the 

Audit Report Submittal Checklist (see Exhibit XII), must be submitted to the Auditor 

General within 45 days after delivery of the audit report to the school’s governing body, but 

no later than 9 months after the end of the school’s fiscal year 

 

Reporting Due Dates 

Each individual contract or charter held between a charter school and sponsor has its own 

reporting requirements.  Most charters require at a minimum the charter school provide an 

annual financial audit, an annual program cost report and an annual progress report.  As 

the sponsor has its own set of reporting requirements to meet with state agencies, it is 

important to meet their deadlines. 

http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/pages/pdf_files/management%20letter-charter%20schools.pdf
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EXHIBIT I - YELLOW BOOK 

 

Auditors of charter schools should be familiar with Government Auditing Standards.  These 

standards, which are commonly referred to as the “Yellow Book,” cover federal entities and 

those organizations receiving federal funds.  In the State of Florida, Chapter 10.850, Rules 

of the Auditor General, requires all charter school audits to comply with Government 

Auditing Standards, which are available on the United States Government Accountability 

Office Web site at http://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf.  The Yellow Book general, 

fieldwork, and reporting standards for financial audits parallel the AICPA auditing 

standards in many instances; however, some of these standards exceed the AICPA auditing 

standards.  Particular areas of note are the independence, CPE, and quality control and 

peer review requirements. 

 

Independence - Auditors should be cognizant of the specific independence requirements of 

the Yellow Book.  They differ from the AICPA independence standards in some respects.   

 

CPE - Auditors performing audits of engagements covered by the Yellow Book are required 

to attain CPE that does not parallel those required by the Florida Board of Accountancy.  

Auditors performing work under Government Auditing Standards (GAS) must complete, 

every 2 years, at least 24 hours of CPE that directly relates to government auditing, the 

government environment, or the specific or unique environment in which the audited entity 

operates.  Those auditors involved in any amount of planning, directing, or reporting on 

GAS audits, and those auditors who are not involved in those activities but charge 20 

percent or more of their time annually to GAS, are required to obtain at least an additional 

56 hours of CPE (for a total of 80 hours of CPE in every 2 year period) that enhances the 

auditor’s professional proficiency to perform audits.   

 

Quality Control and Peer Review - In many respects, these Yellow Book requirements 

parallel the AICPA standards.  Both the AICPA and GAS require the summarization of 

monitoring procedures at least annually, with identification of any systemic issues needing 

improvement, along with recommendations for correction action.  One difference is that the 

Yellow Book requires auditors to make their peer review reports publicly available by 

posting peer review reports on an external Web site or to a publicly available file designed 

for public transparency of peer review results.  

 

The Yellow Book addresses the concept of “abuse” and auditors’ responsibility to be aware 

of its existence during the conduct of their audits.  In accordance with the Yellow Book, 

“abuse involves behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 

prudent person would consider reasonable and necessary business practice given the facts 

and circumstances.  Abuse also includes misuse of authority or position for personal 

financial interests or those of an immediate or close family member or business associate. 

Abuse does not necessarily involve fraud or noncompliance with provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, or grant agreements.”  Because the determination of abuse is 

subjective, auditors are not required to detect abuse in financial audits. 

 

Under certain circumstances, auditors may have the responsibility to report known or 

likely fraud, noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, or grant 

agreements, or abuse directly to parties outside the audited entity.  These circumstances 

http://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf
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only occur after the auditor has informed those charged with governance of management’s 

failure to act or to act as soon as practicable after the auditor’s communication. 
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EXHIBIT II - RESEARCH OF COMPLIANCE CRITERIA 

  

Florida Statutes  

The Florida Statutes are prepared by the Division of Statutory Revision of the Florida 

Legislature. They are published following legislative sessions annually.  A full publication 

of the statutes is available at http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes.   The following is a list of 

statutes applicable to charter schools. 

 

Appeal of charter school application, 1001.02, 1002.33(6)(c) 

Audits, 11.40, 11.45, 218.39, 218.391, 1002.33(9)(j) 

Budgets, 1002.33(9)(h) 

Capital outlay funding, 1002.32(9)(h), 1002.33(19), 1013.62 

Deteriorating financial conditions and fund balance deficits, 218.39(5), 1002.345 

Educational facilities benefit districts, creation, 1013.355 

Expedited review by sponsor, 1002.345 

Financial emergencies, 218.50, 218.503, 1002.33(7)(b)2, 1002.345 

Generally, 1002.33 

Governing boards, duties, 1002.33(9)(h)-(k) 

High-performing charter schools, 1002.331, 1002.332  

Lab schools, 1002.32, 1002.33(5)(a)2, 1012.467, 1013.62 

Monthly financial statement, 1002.33(9)(g)3 

Noninstructional contractors with access to school grounds, immunity from liability for 

sharing criminal history information, 1012.467(7)(b) 

Personnel, 1002.33(12) 

Property tax exemptions, 196.1983, 1002.33(15)(b) and (c) 

Public accountability and approval of school leader preparation programs, 1012.562 

Real property acquisitions, tax cancellation, 196.29 

Restriction of employment of relatives, 1002.33(24) 

School boards, duties, 1002.345, 1011.71, 1012.71(3), 1013.62 

Screening, 1002.33(12)(g), 1012.32, 1012.467 

Sponsors and cosponsors, 1002.33(5), 1002.345 

Standards of conduct and disclosure, 1002.33(26) 

State retirement system participation, 121.051, 121.1122, 121.4501, 1002.33(12)(i) 

Students, extracurricular activities at public schools, 1002.20(18)(c), 1006.15 

Teacher reemployment after retirement, 238.184 

Transparency, 1002.33(9)(p) 

Transportation of students, 1011.68, 1013.62(2)(d) 

 

 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes
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Florida Department of Education 

Financial and Program Cost Accounting and Reporting for Florida Schools (Redbook 2015) 

(www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp) - The primary purpose of the Redbook is provide a uniform 

chart of accounts for budgeting and financial reporting.  Topics include governmental 

accounting standards, program cost accounting and reporting, and school internal funds.  

Charter schools are required to provide financial information that is comparable to that 

reported for other public schools pursuant to Section 1002.33(9)(g), F.S.  

 

Project Application and Amendment Procedures for Federal and State Programs - Green 

Book 2015 (http://www.fldoe.org/finance/ under Contracts, Grants, & Procurement) - The 

Florida Department of Education provides various grants to charter schools in Florida.  The 

Florida Department of Education promulgates its requirements for application and 

amendment procedures in this publication, which describes the project application and 

amendment procedures for state and federal projects administered by the Florida 

Department of Education.  It is not intended to encompass all requirements that may 

pertain to any specific project.  Recipients of funding are expected to be aware of program-

specific requirements that may pertain to its particular funding source; however, some of 

the more common documents related to program administration and compliance are listed 

in this publication. 

 

Publications and Papers -  (http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-

procurement/grants-management/) - The Florida Department of Education’s Web site also 

has several links related to Title I of the NLCB (No Child Left Behind) and exceptional 

student education programs.  The auditor may find these links useful in reviewing charter 

school federal expenditures.  

 

Florida School Choice Web site (http://www.fldoe.org/schools/school-choice/charter-schools) - 

This Web site provides guidance and technical assistance for charter school operations.   

 

Florida Attorney General’s Office 

Additional aid in interpreting Florida Statutes may be found in the Annual Report of the 

Attorney General, which contains the Attorney General’s official opinions on questions of 

law.  Although the opinions of the Attorney General do not have the weight of law, they are 

highly persuasive and should be consulted by the auditor when attempting to interpret 

Florida law.  Each volume has an index and a consolidated index is occasionally issued.  

The complete text of Attorney General Opinions since 1971 can be found, in the form of a 

searchable database, on the Attorney General’s Web site at 

http://myfloridalegal.com/opinions.  The Attorney General of Florida has issued several 

opinions relating to charter schools, including the following: 

 

AGO 98-48 07/31/1998 Dual office holding, charter school 

AGO 2000-24 04/25/2000 Charter school, exemption from traffic impact fee 

AGO 2001-23 03/23/2001 Charter school subject to open government laws 

AGO 2002-55 08/14/2002 School capital outlay surtax, charter schools 

AGO 2004-26 05/11/2004 Santa Rosa Island Authority, funding of charter school 

AGO 2004-67 12/17/2004 Charter schools, funding 

AGO 2006-48 12/06/2006 County, advancement of funds to charter school 

http://www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/
http://www.fldoe.org/schools/school-choice/charter-schools
http://myfloridalegal.com/opinions
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/7D50D5E40953BA4E8525665600486189
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/D108013A7D6F1C12852568D300528C25
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/9AE93DB5B85FEFCB85256A18006000D4
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/F3DD31FAE260FD1C85256C15005D2506
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/93E2EB93685F48A285256E980064A082
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/51FED38FF23EFD1585256F6D00556E40
http://myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/30F76DF53FC81E3C8525723C0050A6FF
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AGO 2010-14  04/22/2010 Charter Schools, Nepotism 

AGO 2013-04 03/21/2013  Virtual charter schools, costs of student attendance 

AGO 2013-06 04/01/2013 Conversion Charter School, Municipalities 

AGO 2013-27 11/20/2013 Charter Schools – Governing Board 

AGO 2016-09 08/02/2016 Charter Schools-Municipalities - Special Assessment 

 

Public Records and Sunshine Laws 

Chapter 119, F.S., the Florida Public Records Law, provides that as a matter of state policy, 

“…. all state, county, and municipal records are open for personal inspection and copying by 

any person. Providing access to public records is a duty of each agency.” Public records are 

defined to include “all documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, 

sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical 

form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or 

ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.” The 

Division of Library and Information Services within the Florida Department of State is 

responsible for adopting rules to establish retention schedules and a disposal process for 

public records.  Charter schools must comply with the Florida Public Records Law pursuant 

to Section 1002.33(16)(b)2., F.S.   

 

The Florida Sunshine Law is a series of laws designed to guarantee that the public has 

access to the public records of governmental bodies in Florida.  Article I, 24(b) of the Florida 

Constitution states that “All meetings of...any collegial public body of a county, 

municipality, school district, or special district at which official acts are to be taken or at 

which public business of such body is to be transacted or discussed, shall be open and 

noticed...”  Section 286.011, F.S., spells out in detail how meetings must be conducted, 

notices and minutes, and how exemptions apply to attorney-client sessions and labor union 

negotiations.  Charter schools must comply with this law pursuant to Section 

1002.33(16)(b)1., F.S.  

 

The Florida Department of Legal Affairs, headed by the Attorney General, is responsible for 

administering the Florida Public Records and Sunshine Laws and publishes the 

Government-in-the-Sunshine Manual to assist in implementing these laws. The Manual 

can be accessed in electronic form on the Attorney General’s Web site at 

http://www.myflsunshine.com/sun.nsf/sunmanual. 

 

Florida Administrative Code (FAC) 

The Florida Administrative Code is a compilation of the rules adopted by state agencies.  

The FAC is published and continuously updated by the Florida Department of State, and 

includes descriptions of each agency’s organization, practices, and procedures, including a 

listing of the agency’s forms and instructions.  The State Board of Education rules are 

located under Chapter 6 (subsection 6a) of the FAC.  The complete text of the Florida 

Administrative Code can be accessed on the Florida Department of State’s Web site at 

www.flrules.org. 

http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/E09871254197156E8525770D005C05F1
http://myfloridalegal.com/__85256236006EB5E1.nsf/0/D20AD30420BB793B85257B3C0052B3A6?Open&Highlight=0,ago,2013-04
http://myfloridalegal.com/__85256236006EB5E1.nsf/0/729687909AAEACEB85257B410049E997?Open&Highlight=0,2013-06
http://myfloridalegal.com/__85256236006EB5E1.nsf/0/729687909AAEACEB85257B410049E997?Open&Highlight=0,2013-06
http://www.myfloridalegal.com/ago.nsf/Opinions/278FB2200F118C408525801200642CE7
http://www.myflsunshine.com/sun.nsf/sunmanual
http://www.flrules.org/Default.asp
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EXHIBIT III - COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST 

As noted before, Government Auditing Standards requires testing and reporting on internal 

control over financial reporting and on compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and 

grant agreements and other matters.  The below sample compliance checklist is not 

intended to be all inclusive and some items may not apply to every situation.  The sample 

checklist is intended to serve as a resource for auditors and is not intended to supplant the 

judgment, or risk assessments, of the independent certified public accountant engaged to 

perform the audit. 

 

Objective Procedure 

Discrimination prohibited on the basis of race, color, 

religion, gender, national origin, age, national origin, 

political beliefs, marital status, sexual orientation, 

social and family background, linguistic preference or 

disability 

Review a sample of 

advertisements and listing of 

students 

No fees or tuitions will be charged, except those fees 

normally charged by other public schools 

Review revenue for unusual 

fees 

The Sunshine State standards shall be used as the 

curriculum guideline 

Review curriculum in 

Operations Handbook  

The school agrees to implement an instructional 

program consistent with the program in Pupil 

Progression Plan of the school board 

Obtain copy of plan and 

compare to curriculum in 

Handbook 

Course content and numbers shall be consistent with 

the State Course Code Directory 

Obtain copy of each list and 

compare 

Class will normally be limited to 25 students Review list of students per class 

The school will establish a systematic method for 

assessing student progress using the District’s Pupil 

Progression Plan 

Inquire and document methods 

and compare to plan 

The Florida Standards Act (FSA) will be implemented 

as required by law 

The new baseline for school 

grading was conducted in the 

summer of 2016.  Follow up 

with the school board and the 

Florida Department of 

Education for initial 

performance standards 

Students will be supervised by a certified teacher or 

skilled instructional personnel at all times from arrival 

at school to departure 

Review teachers certifications 

The school will designate in writing one individual to 

act as the Chief Administrator (principal) 

Review list of employees for 

principal 

The school will provide instruction for a minimum of 

180 days 

Inquire as to length of school 

year 

The governing board must appoint a representative to 

facilitate parental involvement.  The representative’s 

contact information must be provided annually in 

writing to parents and posted prominently on the 

school’s Web site 

Review annual written notice 

and Web site information for 

representative 
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The school shall assure compliance with the method for 

determining graduation requirements pursuant to FL 

statutes and that all students meet requirements 

Review requirements in 

operation handbook 

The Code of Student Conduct shall include student 

discipline policies, Zero Tolerance Federal Gun Free 

Schools Zone Act, suspension and expulsion criteria, 

processes, and appeal process 

Inquire if incident log exists 

and review handbook for 

policies 

The school will provide ESE and ESOL programs Review student listing for ESE 

and ESOL students 

Records of students leaving the school to be sent to the 

school board and/or to the new school system 

Confirm with school board 

School agrees to report its students (FTE) to the school 

board so the school board can report student 

enrollment 

Confirm with school board 

A 5% administration fee will be held back from 

available revenue by the school board for direct and 

indirect administration  

Confirm with school board 

If categorical funds are received, the school shall 

document funds received were expended for their 

established purpose  

Inquire if funds received and 

review documentation of 

expenses 

If Title I funds are received, the school is required to 

submit a Title I Plan 

Inquire if received and review 

plan 

If the school is eligible for capital outlay funds, the 

school must provide a written list enumerating the 

proposed capital expenditures 

Review list of capital 

expenditures, during audit proc 

Financial records will be maintained as provided for in 

the Financial and Program Cost Accounting and 

Reporting for Florida Schools (Redbook) 

Review requirements in 

Redbook  

The school shall report its student enrollment to the 

school board 

Confirm with school board 

The school shall establish and implement accounting 

and reporting policies, procedures and practices for 

maintaining complete records of receipts and 

expenditures 

Request copy of policies and 

procedures 

The school shall provide to the school board a 

reconciliation of all bank accounts within 45 days of 

every month end 

Confirm with school board 

The school shall provide monthly (or quarterly for a 

high-performing school) financial statements to the 

school board 

Confirm with school board 

Unaudited financial statements shall be submitted to 

the school board by July 31 

Confirm with school board 

The school shall develop safety and emergency 

procedures for each facility and classroom and have 

them posted 

Review copy of procedures, and 

include in client rep letter 

All teachers and staff will receive inservice training on 

approved safety and emergency procedures 

View plan for teacher training 

and verify that it is provided 
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The school shall hold and document emergency drills at 

least ten (10) times per year 

Request documentation of drills 

The school shall utilize facilities that comply with the 

State Uniform Building Code/Florida Building 

Code/Florida Fire Prevention Code 

Certificate of occupancy in 

perm file 

All facilities must be inspected annually by the Fire 

Marshall.  Proof of this and other inspections must be 

provided to the school board  

Request and review copies of 

inspections 

The school shall provide the school board with 

documentation regarding their property interest 

Lease in perm file 

The school must provide notice to the school board of 

all material additions, changes and renovations 

Review minutes for additions 

Transportation must be provided according to district, 

state and federal rule and regulations 

Inquire of policies for 

transportation 

The school should provide breakfast to elementary 

students; lunch to elementary, middle, and high 

students 

Inquire as to meals provided 

Insurers providing the insurance required by the 

School must be authorized by submitting certificates of 

authority by the Department of Insurance of the State 

of Florida or be an eligible surplus lines insurer under 

Florida Statutes and must have a Best’s Rating of “A” 

or better and a Financial Size Category of “VI” or 

better 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The Commercial General Liability Insurance shall 

cover the School for those sources of liability that 

would be covered by the latest occurrence form edition 

of the Commercial General Liability Coverage Form 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The minimum limits to be maintained by the School 

shall be $1 million per occurrence 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The School shall include the Sponsor and its member, 

officers and employees as “Additional Insured” on the 

required Commercial General Liability Insurance 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

Property insurance (all risks) with limits of no less 

than 100% replacement value of the facility and all 

contents 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The School’s Automobile Liability insurance shall cover 

the School for those sources of liability that would be 

covered by Section II of the latest occurrence edition of 

the standard Business Auto Policy.  Coverage shall be 

included on all owned, non-owned and hired autos used 

in connection with the charter contract.  The minimum 

limits to be maintained shall be $1 million per 

occurrence, $1,000 deductible 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The School’s Workers’ Compensation/Employers’ 

Liability Insurance shall cover the employees of the 

school, as required by Florida law 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 
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The School Leader’s Errors & Omissions Liability 

Insurance shall cover the School for those sources of 

liability typically insured with limits of $1,000,000 per 

occurrence 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

Fidelity/Dishonesty/Liability coverage with limits of 

$500,000 

Obtain and review copies of 

certificates 

The school agrees that the school shall select its own 

employees and the employees shall be private 

Verify all employees work for 

Management Company 

The teachers employed will be certified Review sample of certifications 

All employees will be fingerprinted Select a sample of employees, 

request and review evidence of 

fingerprints 

The school agrees to provide a monthly employee 

payroll list to the school board’s school police 

department 

Confirm with school board 

The governing body will provide reasonable public 

notice of its meetings and maintain minutes. Such 

meeting will be open to the public. A signed copy will 

be forwarded to the Sponsor within seven days 

Obtain copy of minutes, review 

and summarize 

Board of Directors will consist of one (1) member of the 

founding board, three (3) parents and three (3) 

business/community representatives 

Review list of board members 

The governing board must hold at least two public 

board meetings per school year 

Verify board meetings were 

held 

The school shall make annual progress reports to the 

school board and contain at least the following:  1) the 

schools progress toward achieving their goals 2) the 

information required in the annual public school 

accountability report 3) financial records of the charter 

school 4) salary and benefit levels of employees 5) 

amount of management fees paid 6) other elements 

required by law 

Confirm with school board, 

review sample of progress 

reports, verify report of 

spreadsheet in compliance 

The school shall maintain a Web site that enables the 

public to obtain information regarding the school; the 

school’s academic performance; the names of the 

governing board members; the programs at the school; 

any management companies, service providers, or 

education management corporations associated with 

the school; the school’s annual budget and its annual 

independent fiscal audit; the school’s grade pursuant to 

Section 1008.34, F.S.; and, on a quarterly basis, the 

minutes of governing board meetings 

View the school’s Web site and 

verify that these items have 

been posted 
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EXHIBIT IV - SAMPLE MANAGEMENT LETTER - SCHEDULE FORMAT 

 

Auditor’s Findings, Comments, and Recommendations 

(Management Letter) 

 

 Material Weaknesses 

 

 Significant Deficiencies 

 (If there are no significant deficiencies, delete this section; 

 do not state that there are no significant deficiencies) 

 

 Material Compliance Violations 

 

 Immaterial Compliance Violations 

 

 Other Comments and Recommendations 

 

 Requirements of the Rules of the Auditor General 

 

1. A statement describing the results of the auditor’s determination as to whether the 

charter school met any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida 

Statutes, and, if applicable, identification of the specific condition(s) met (negative 

assurance not allowed). 

2. A statement that the auditor applied financial condition assessment procedures per 

Section 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General. 

3. If deteriorating financial conditions are noted, a statement that the charter school’s 

financial condition is deteriorating and a description of conditions causing the auditor 

to make this conclusion.  If the auditor has reported that the charter school has met 

one or more of the conditions specified in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, this 

statement shall indicate whether such condition resulted from a deteriorating financial 

condition. 

4. Name or official title of the charter school. 

5. For charter schools only, a statement describing the results of the auditor’s 

determination pursuant to Section 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, as to 

whether the charter school maintains on its Web site the information specified in 

Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes. 

 

 Status of Prior Year Findings and Recommendations 

(Address the status of each prior year finding and recommendation indicating whether or 

not corrective action has been taken to address each recommendation.  If there were no 

findings in the prior year, state this fact.  If an audit finding in the preceding financial 

audit report is uncorrected, the auditor must determine whether the finding was also 

included in the second preceding fiscal year financial audit report.  Uncorrected findings in 

the current fiscal year audit report must cite the finding reference numbers used in the 

preceding and, as applicable, second preceding financial audit reports.)  
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NOTES 

 Only include the sections that are relevant. 

 Need to identify management letter comments by reference numbers to facilitate 

identification (e.g., 2017-001, 2017-002, etc.).  Although not required, a 

tabulation such as the following showing current fiscal year findings and 

the corresponding finding numbers that were also identified in the two 

preceding fiscal year financial audit reports may be useful in 

demonstrating compliance with this rule. 

 

Tabulation of Uncorrected Audit 

Findings 

Current 

Year 

Finding 

No. 

2015-16 FY 

Finding No. 

2014-15 FY 

Finding No. 

2017-001 2016-001 2015-001 
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EXHIBIT V - SAMPLE MANAGEMENT LETTER – LETTER FORMAT 

 

MANAGEMENT LETTER 

 
Honorable (Board of Directors) (name of entity), Florida. 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the (name of entity), Florida, as of and for the 

fiscal year ended June 30, 20XX, and have issued our report thereon dated ______, 20XX. 

(If the auditor's report on the financial statements includes any departures from 

an unmodified opinion, disclose such departures in the management letter.) 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; 

(if applicable) Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 

Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 

Guidance); and Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General.   

 

Other Reports and Schedule 

 

We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial 

Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial 

Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards, (if 

applicable) Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

and Report on Internal Control over Compliance, and (if applicable) Schedule of Findings 

and Questioned Costs. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated _____, 

20XX, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter. 

 

Prior Audit Findings 

 

Section 10.854(1)(e)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or 

not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in 

the preceding annual financial audit report.  Corrective actions have been taken to address 

findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report (except 

as noted below under the heading Prior Year Findings and Recommendations - use 

when appropriate).  If there were no recommendations made in the preceding 

audit report, state such in the management letter.  If an audit finding in the 

preceding financial audit report is uncorrected, the auditor must determine 

whether the finding was also included in the second preceding fiscal year 
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financial audit report.  Uncorrected findings in the current fiscal year audit 

report must cite the finding reference numbers used in the preceding and, as 

applicable, the second preceding fiscal year financial audit report.   

Although not required, a tabulation such as the following showing current fiscal 

year findings and the corresponding finding numbers that were also identified in 

the two preceding fiscal year financial audit reports may be useful in 

demonstrating compliance with this rule. 

Tabulation of Uncorrected Audit 

Findings 

Current 

Year 

Finding 

No. 

2015-16 FY 

Finding No. 

2014-15 FY 

Finding No. 

2017-001 2016-001 2015-001 

   

   

    

Official Title 

 

Section 10.854(1)(e)5., Rules of the Auditor General, requires the name or official title of the 

entity.  The official title of the entity is (legal name of charter school or center). 

 

Financial Condition 

 

Section 10.854(1)(e)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we report the results of 

our determination as to whether or not the (name of charter school or center) met one 

or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and 

identification of the specific conditions(s) met.  In connection with our audit, we determined 

that the (name of charter school or center) did not meet any of the conditions described 

in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.  (If the charter school or center met any of the 

conditions in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, revise the language as 

appropriate and specify in the management letter which of the conditions 

described in Section 218.503(1) were met and state whether or not the condition 

resulted from a deteriorating financial condition, as defined in Rule 10.854(1)(b), 

Rules of the Auditor General.) 

 

Pursuant to Sections 10.854(1)(e)6.a. and 10.855(12), Rules of the Auditor General we 

applied financial condition assessment procedures for the (name of charter school or 

center).  It is management’s responsibility to monitor the (name of charter school or 

center)’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on 
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representations made by management and the review of financial information provided by 

same.  (If the financial condition assessment procedures disclose a deteriorating 

financial condition(s), include a statement that the charter school’s financial 

condition is deteriorating and a description of the deteriorating financial 

condition(s).  Findings regarding deteriorating financial conditions shall be 

prepared in accordance with Section 10.856(3), Rules of the Auditor General. The 

auditor may want to make a statement that the assessment was done as of the 

fiscal year end.) 

 

Transparency 

 

Sections 10.854(1)(e)7. and 10.855(13), Rules of the Auditor General, require that we apply 

appropriate procedures to determine whether the (name of charter school) maintains on 

its Web site the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes.  In 

connection with our audit, we determined that the (name of charter school) maintained 

on its Web site the information specified in Section 1002.33(9)(p), Florida Statutes.  (If the 

entity did not maintain the required information on its Web site, revise the 

language as appropriate.) 

 

Other Matters 

 

Section 10.854(1)(e)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the 

management letter any recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection 

with our audit, we did not have any such recommendations (or, if applicable, state the 

recommendations). 

 

Section 10.854(1)(e)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address 

noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have 

occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that 

is less than material but which warrants the attention of those charged with governance.  

In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings (or, if applicable, state 

the findings and recommendations).  Fraud, noncompliance with provisions of 

laws or regulations and contracts or grant agreements, or abuse that does not 

warrant the attention of those charged with governance, or internal control 

deficiencies that are not material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, may be 

reported in the management letter based on professional judgment.) 

 

Purpose of this Letter 

 

Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative 

Auditing Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of 

Representatives, the Florida Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies (refer 

to other governmental agencies if appropriate), the Board of Directors, applicable 
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management, and (name of entity’s charter sponsor), and is not intended to be and 

should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

 

(name of CPA firm) 

(date of management letter) 

  

[NOTE: This example management letter is intended to provide guidance 

concerning the preparation of a management letter pursuant to Chapter 10.850, 

Rules of the Auditor General for Audits of Charter Schools and Similar Entities, 

Florida Virtual School, and Virtual Instruction Program Providers. It should be 

amended as appropriate based on the auditor's professional judgment regarding 

the particular circumstances of the audit and changes to Government Auditing 

Standards and/or Chapter 10.850, Rules of the Auditor General for Audits of 

Charter Schools and Similar Entities, Florida Virtual School, and Virtual 

Instruction Program Providers.] 
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EXHIBIT VI – SAMPLE COMMUNICATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL RELATED 

MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN AN AUDIT (AU-C 265) REPORT 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 

States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 

Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 

statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 

fund information of the Sample Charter School, Inc. (the “School”), a component unit of the 

School Board of Sample County, Florida, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 20XX, 

and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Sample 

Charter School, Inc.’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 

September 15, 20XX.   

 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 

School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our 

opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding 

paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 

material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or 

significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  However, as described below, we 

identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 

weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not 

allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 

functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material 

weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there 

is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 

will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the 

deficiencies described in the management letter dated September 15, 20XX as items 20XX-

001 and 20XX-002 to be material weaknesses. 

 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 

that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by 

those charged with governance. We consider the deficiencies described in the management 
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letter dated September 15, 20XX as items 20XX-003 and 20XX-004 to be significant 

deficiencies. 

 

Compliance and Other Matters  

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements 

are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 

provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 

could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement 

amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 

objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of 

our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance and other matters that are required to be 

reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

 

We noted certain other matters that we have reported to management of the School, in the 

management letter dated September 15, 20XX. 

 

Sample Charter School’s Response to Findings 

 

The School’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the 

accompanying letter of management response.  The School’s response was not subjected to 

the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements, and, accordingly, 

we express no opinion on it. 

 

Purpose of this Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 

and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide and opinion of the 

effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral 

part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 

considering the School’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this report is not 

suitable for any other purpose.  

 

(name of CPA firm) 

(CPA firm’s city and state) 

September 15, 20XX 
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EXHIBIT VII – SAMPLE COMMUNICATION WITH THOSE CHARGED WITH 

GOVERNANCE (AU-C 260) LETTER 

September 15, 20XX 

 

To the Board of Directors of 

  the Sample Charter School, Inc. 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, 

and the aggregate remaining fund information of Sample Charter School, Inc. (the “School”) 

for the year ended June 30, 20XX.  Professional standards require that we provide you with 

information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards, as well 

as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 

communicated such information in our letter to you dated April 15, 20XX. Professional 

standards also require that we provide you with the following information related to our 

audit. 

 

Significant Audit Findings  

 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 

significant accounting policies used by the School are described in Note A to the financial 

statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing 

policies was not changed during the 20XX fiscal year.  We noted no transactions entered 

into by the School during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 

consensus.   All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in 

the proper period. 

 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 

management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and 

current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are 

particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 

of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 

expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the School’s financial statements were:  

 

Management’s estimate of the useful lives of capital assets is based on the 

historical asset life of School capital assets and industry standards, in order 

to determine the value and period of time over which individual capital assets 

are to be depreciated. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to 

develop the useful lives of capital asset in determining that it is reasonable in 

relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their 

significance to financial statement users.  The most sensitive disclosures affecting the 

financial statements was 

 

The disclosure of concentration of revenue sources in Note X to the financial 

statements:  the school receives revenues for current operations primarily 
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from the State of Florida through the School Board of Sample County, 

Florida. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 

completing our audit. 

 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements 

identified during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the 

appropriate level of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In 

addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected 

by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion 

unit’s financial statements taken as a whole.   

 

Disagreements with Management 

 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, 

reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be 

significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that 

no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 

 

Management Representations 

 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 

management representation letter dated September 15, 20XX.   

 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing 

and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a 

consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s 

financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be 

expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 

accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To 

our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles 

and auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental 

unit’s auditors.  However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our 

professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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This letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 

Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the 

Florida Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, and applicable management 

and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 

parties. 

 

(name of CPA firm) 

Sample City, FL 

September 15, 20XX 
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EXHIBIT VIII – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 1 

(COMBINED FORMAT FOR A SINGLE PROGRAM SCHOOL) 

 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AND 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 

June 30, 20XX 
 

 

 Governmental Funds   

 General 

Fund 

Foundation 

Fund 

Grants 

Fund 

Capital 

Outlay Total 

Adjust-

ments 

Statement 

of Net 

Position 

Assets:        

     Cash and cash equivalents $     226,187 $          71,396 $   48,962 $ $  346,545 $ $    346,545 

     Accounts receivable,               

      FEFP capital outlay funds    94,691 94,691  94,691 

     Internal receivables 5,546    5,546 (5,546) - 

     Capital assets, net of         

       accumulated depreciation      163,234 163,234 

        

Total assets5 $     231,733 $          71,396 $   48,962 $    94,691 $  446,782 $    157,688 $    604,470 

        

Liabilities:        

     Accounts payable 3,738    3,738  3,738 

     Retirement plan payable 17,435    17,435  17,435 

     Internal payables  61 5,485  5,546 (5,546) - 

     Refundable advance   37,567  37,567  37,567 

                     Total liabilities5 21,173 61 43,052 - 64,286 (5,546) 58,740 

        

Fund Balances:6        

    Restricted    94,691 94,691 (94,691) - 

    Assigned  71,335 5,910  77,245 (77,245) - 

     Unassigned 210,560    210,560 (210,560) - 

       Total fund balances 210,560 71,335 5,910 94,691 382,496 (382,496) - 

        

       Total liabilities and fund balances $      231,733 $          71,396 $   48,962 $    94,691 $  446,782   

        

Net Position:         

     Investment in capital assets      163,234 163,234 

     Restricted for capital expenditures      94,691 94,691 

     Unrestricted      287,805 287,805 

        

                   Total net position      $    545,730 $    545,730 

        

        

        

        

        
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 

                                                 
5
 Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 

Resources, and Net Position, deferred outflow and deferred inflow sections should be reported in the basic financial 

statements; however, the types of accounts that are classified as deferred outflows and inflows are not normally 

present in charter school financial statements.  Consequently, deferred outflows and inflows sections are not 

included on these sample financial statements.  However, if applicable, GASB Statement No. 65 Items Previously 

Reported as Assets and Liabilities should be consulted as it provides further guidance on the proper implementation 

of GASB Statement No. 63. 
6
 Nonspendable and/or committed fund balance classifications may also be included in this section. 
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EXHIBIT VIII – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 1 

(COMBINED FORMAT FOR A SINGLE PROGRAM SCHOOL) (continued) 

 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND GOVERNMENTAL FUND 

REVENUE, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS  

For the year ended June 30, 20XX 
 

 

 Governmental Funds   

 General 

Fund 

Foundation 

Fund 

Grants 

Fund 

Capital 

Outlay Total 

Adjust-

ments 

Statement of 

Activities 

Expenditures/expenses        

    Instruction – basic $  819,390 $     $  7,183 $ $      826,573 $    5,272 $          831,845 

    Instruction – exceptional 54,495    54,495  54,495 

    Pupil personnel services 27,502    27,502  27,502 

    Instruction and curriculum        

      development 22,257  632  22,889  22,889 

    School board 23,667    23,667  23,667 

    School administration 174,618 1,726 2,150  178,494  178,494 

    Facilities, acquisition and        

      construction 3,273    3,273 (3,273) - 

    Fiscal Services 38,309    38,309  38,309 

    Operation of Plant 186,647   100,324 286,971 50,939 337,910 

    Total expenditures/expenses 1,350,158 1,726 9,965 100,324 1,462,173 52,938 1,515,111 

        

Program revenues:        

    Charges for services 65,285    65,285  65,285 

      Net program expense       1,449,826 

        

General revenues:        

    State sources 1,227,793   156,035 1,383,828  1,383,828 

    Local sources 121,470 24,280 6,664  152,414  152,414 

    Interest income 896 3,937 2,454 3,456 10,743  10,743 

      Total general revenues and         

        transfers 1,350,159 28,217 9,118 159,491 1,546,985 - 1,546,985 

        

Excess (deficit) of revenues and        

    transfers over expenditures 65,286 26,491 (847) 59,167 150,097 (150,097) - 

        

Change in net position      97,159 97,159 

        

Fund balance/net position:        

    Beginning of year 145,274 44,844 6,757 35,524 232,399 216,172 448,571 

        

    End of year $  210,560 $          71,335 $  5,910 $94,691 $    382,496 $  163,234 $          545,730 

        
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) 

 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 20XX 

 

  Governmental 

Activities 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS   

Cash  $        650,994 

Accounts receivable  14,713 

Deposits  44,930 

Prepaid expenses  61,681 

Total current assets  772,268 

   

CAPITAL ASSETS   

Capital Assets, net of accumulated depreciation   

Improvements other than buildings  122,314 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment  74,758 

Information technology equipment  69,411 

Computer software  380 

Motor vehicles  3,504 

Total capital assets  270,367 

Total assets7  1,042,635 

   

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

LIABILITIES   

Accounts payable   15,769 

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes  74,908 

Noncurrent liabilities:   

Due within one year  13,375 

Total liabilities7  104,052 

 

NET POSITION 

  

Net investment in capital assets  256,992 

Unrestricted  681,591 

Total net position  $        938,583 

   
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 

                                                 
7
 Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 

Resources, and Net Position, deferred outflow and deferred inflow sections should be reported in the basic financial 

statements; however, the types of accounts that are classified as deferred outflows and inflows are not normally 

present in charter school financial statements.  Consequently, deferred outflows and inflows sections are not 

included on these sample financial statements.  However, if applicable, GASB Statement No. 65 Items Previously 

Reported as Assets and Liabilities should be consulted as it provides further guidance on the proper implementation 

of GASB Statement No. 63. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) (continued) 

 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

For the year ended June 30, 20XX 

 
 

  Program Revenues  

Functions/Programs Expenses 

Charges for 

Services 

Operating 

Grants and 

Contributions 

Capital 

Grants and 

Contributions 

Net (Expense) 

Revenue and 

Changes in 

Net Position 

Governmental activities:      

Basic instruction $       2,618,579 $                  - $                      - $                      - $     (2,618,579) 

Exceptional instruction 69,316 - - - (69,316) 

Other instruction 116,545 138,147 - - 21,602 

Health services 38,532 - - - (38,532) 

Media services 30,970 - - - (30,970) 

Curriculum development 198,189 - - - (198,189) 

Staff development 26,596 - - - (26,596) 

Board 33,784 - - - (33,784) 

General administration 77,431 - - - (77,431) 

School administration 326,429 - - - (326,429) 

Facilities 11,811 - - - (11,811) 

Fiscal services 73,637 - - - (73,637) 

Food services 211,947 156,934 45,247 - (9,766) 

Planning and evaluation 8,880 - - - (8,880) 

Staff services 24,603 - - - (24,603) 

Transportation 193,398 - - - (193,398) 

Operation of plant 854,249 - - 492,228 (362,021) 

Maintenance of plant 10,995 - - - (10,995) 

Before/after 175,120 234.379 - - 59,259 

Interest expense 2,564 - - - (2,564) 

      

Total governmental activities $       5,103,575 $      529,460 $            45,247 $          492,228 (4,036,640) 

      

   General revenues:  

   Grants and entitlements not 

restricted to specific programs 

 

4,159,563 

   Interest income 20,760 

   Other revenues 34,492 

   Total revenues 4,214,815 

      

   Change in net position 178,175 

      

   Net position at July 1, 20XX 760,408 

      

   Net position at June 30, 20XX $          938,583 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) (continued) 

 
BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

June 30, 20XX 
 

 

 

General Fund 

Capital Outlay 

Fund 

Other 

Governmental 

Funds 

Total 

Governmental 

Funds 

ASSETS     

Cash $            650,944 $                        - $                        - $            650,944 

Accounts receivable 14,713 - - 14,713 

Due from other agencies - - - - 

Deposits 44,930 - - 44,930 

Prepaid expenses 61,681 - - 61,681 

      Total assets8 $            772,268 $                        - $                        - $            772,268 

     

     

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES    

LIABILITIES     

Accounts payable $              15,769 $                        - $                        - $              15,769 

Accrued payroll and 

Payroll taxes 

 

74,908 

 

- 

 

- 

 

74,908 

Total liabilities7 90,677 - - 90,677 

FUND BALANCES     

Unassigned 681,591 - - 681,591 

Total fund balances 681,591 - - 681,591 

Total liabilities and 

fund balances 

 

$            772,268 

 

$                        - 

 

$                        - 

 

$            772,268                         

     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 

                                                 
8
 Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of 

Resources, and Net Position, deferred outflow and deferred inflow sections should be reported in the basic financial 

statements; however, the types of accounts that are classified as deferred outflows and inflows are not normally 

present in charter school financial statements.  Consequently, deferred outflows and inflows sections are not 

included on these sample financial statements.  However, if applicable, GASB Statement No. 65 Items Previously 

Reported as Assets and Liabilities should be consulted as it provides further guidance on the proper implementation 

of GASB Statement No. 63. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) (continued) 

 
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 20XX 
 

 

Fund balances – total governmental funds 

  

$ 681,591 

   

The net position reported for governmental activities 

in the statement of net position is different because: 

  

   

Capital assets used in governmental activities are 

not financial resources and therefore are not 

reported in the governmental funds.  Those assets 

consist of: 

 

  

   

Improvements other than building, net of $44,268 

accumulated depreciation 

 

122,314 

 

 

Furniture, fixture and equipment, net of $58,602  

accumulated depreciation 

 

74,758 

 

 

Information technology equipment, net of $88,643 

accumulated depreciation 

 

69,411 

 

Computer software, net of $15,256  

accumulated depreciation 

 

380 

 

Motor vehicles, net of $75,339 

accumulated depreciation 

 

3,504 

 

Total capital assets  270,367 

   

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the  

current period and therefore are not reported in the 

 funds.  Those liabilities consist of: 

  

 

 

Capital leases  (13,375) 

Total net position of governmental activities  $ 938,583 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) (continued) 

 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – 

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

For the year ended June 30, 20XX 
 

 

 

General 

Fund 

Capital 

Outlay 

Fund 

Other 

Governmental 

Funds 

Total 

Governmental 

Funds 

Revenues     

Federal passed through local school district $         95,361 $                   - $                     -       $     95,361 

Federal passed through state - - 45,247 45,247 

State passed through local school district 4,064,202 492,228 - 4,556,430 

Other revenues 427,778 - 156,934 584,712 

Total revenues 4,587,341 492,228 202,181 5,281,750 

     

Expenditures     

Current:     

Basic instruction 2,586,217 - - 2,586,217 

Exceptional instruction 69,316 - - 69,316 

Other instruction 116,545 - - 116,545 

Health services 38,532 - - 38,532 

Media services 30,970 - - 30,970 

Curriculum development 198,189 - - 198,189 

Staff development 26,596 - - 26,596 

Board 33,784 - - 33,784 

General administration 77,431 - - 77,431 

School administration 325,087 - - 325,087 

Facilities 47 - - 47 

Fiscal services 73,436 - - 73,436 

Food services - - 207,462 207,462 

Planning and evaluation 8,880 - - 8,880 

Staff services 24,603 - - 24,603 

Transportation 186,332 - - 186,332 

Operation of plant 356,450 492,228 - 848,678 

Maintenance of plant 10,995 - - 10,995 

Before/after 175,120 - - 175,120 

Fixed capital outlay 23,275 - - 23,275 

Debt service     

Principal 12,153 - - 12,153 

Interest 2,564 - - 2,564 

Total expenditures 4,376,522 492,228 207,462 5,076,212 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) 

expenditures 

 

210,819 

 

- 

 

(5,281) 

 

205,538 

     

Other financing sources and (uses):     

Transfer in - - 5,281 5,281 

Transfer out (5,281) - - (5,281) 

Net changes in fund balance 205,538 - - 205,538 

Fund balances at July 1, 20XX 476,053 - - 476,053 

Fund balances at June 30, 20XX $       681,591 $                   - $                     - $         681,591 

     

     
 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT IX – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

GOVERNMENTAL MODEL – EXAMPLE 2 (TRADITIONAL FORMAT) (continued) 

 
RECONCILIATION OF THE  STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 

IN FUND BALANCE – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

For the year ended June 30, 20XX 
 

 

Net change in fund balance – total governmental funds  $        205,538 

   

The change in net position reported for governmental activities 

in the statement of activities is different because: 

  

   

Governmental funds report fixed capital outlays as expenditures. 

However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated 

over their estimated useful lives and reported as 

depreciation expense. 

  

   

Fixed capital outlay $          23,275  

Depreciation   (62,791) (39,516) 

   

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current 

financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the  

principal of long-term debt consume the current financial resources 

of governmental funds.  Neither transaction, however, has any effect 

on net position.  The net effect of these differences in the treatment  

of long-term debt and related items increased net position. 

 

12,153 

   

Change in net position of governmental activities  $        178,175 

   

   

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT X – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

NOT-FOR-PROFIT MODEL (FASB ASC 958-205-55)  

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

June 30, 20XX 
 

 

ASSETS 20XX  20YY 

ASSETS    

     Cash $              4,785  $         67,684 

     Accounts and grants receivable        9,085  24,153 

     Due from management company -  1,390 

     Prepaid  expenses 312  - 

     Deposits 52,638   15,138 

                     Total assets $            66,820  $       108,365 

    

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

(DEFICIT) 
 

 
 

LIABILITIES    

     Accounts payable $            46,538  $         12,396 

     Accrued expenses        108,837  94,239 

     Deferred revenue 46,263  144,967 

     Due to management company 10,853  - 

     Note payable – management company 240,440  219,825 

     Loan payable – management company            150,506     - 

                     Total liabilities           603,437       471,427 

    

NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)    

     Unrestricted  (536,617)  (363,062) 

                     Total liabilities and net assets  $           66,820  $       108,365 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT X – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

NOT-FOR-PROFIT MODEL (FASB ASC 958-205-55) (continued) 

 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 

Years ended June 30,  
 

 

REVENUE 20XX  20YY 

     Per pupil allocation $           1,299,748  $         1,123,598 

     Entitlements and federal grants 208,814  334,897 

     Food service 54,701  43,929 

     Special education 68,076  47,478 

     After school car 20,727  15,797 

     Summer school 37,183  8,696 

     Interest income 6,957  11,639 

     Fundraising 843  5,611 

     Other income 5,552  7,614 

                     Total revenue    1,702,601  1,599,259 

    

EXPENSES    

     Program services           

        Instruction        1,388,428  1,095,063 

        Food service        114,147  91,331 

                     Total program services 1,502,575  1,186,394 

         

     Supporting services    

        General and administrative            361,527  483,661 

        Interest           12,054       9,067 

                     Total supporting services 373,581  492,728 

                     Total expenses 1,876,156  1,679,122 

                     Change in net assets (173,555)  (79,863) 

Net assets (deficit) at beginning of year (363,062)  (283,199) 

Net assets (deficit) at end of year $             (536,617)  $          (363,062) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement. 
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EXHIBIT X – FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION UNDER THE 

NOT-FOR-PROFIT MODEL (FASB ASC 958-205-55) (continued) 

 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Years ended June 30,  
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
20XX 

 
20YY 

     Change in net assets $         (173,555)  $        (79,863) 

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 

net    cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities:  

 

 

(increase) decrease in assets:    

            Accounts and grants receivable 15,068  75,682 

            Prepaid expenses (312)  14,758 

            Due from management company 1,390  (1,390) 

            Deposits (37,500)  (11,138) 

         Increase (decrease) in liabilities:    

            Accounts payable 34,142  (239,140) 

            Accrued expenses  14,598  48,414 

            Deferred revenue (98,704)  144,968 

            Due to management company 10,853   

Net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities (234,020)  (47,709) 

    

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 
 

 
 

         Proceeds from note payable 20,615          

         Proceeds from loan payable    

 
150,506 

 
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing 

activities        171,121  - 

                     Net increase (decrease) in cash (62,899)  (47,709) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 67,684  115,393 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $               4,785  $          67,684 

    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE    

     Cash paid for interest $                       -  $            9,067 
 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



 

 

 54 

EXHIBIT XI – SAMPLE REVENUE ESTIMATE WORKSHEET 

Revenue Estimate Worksheet for Sample Charter School 

Based on the Second Calculation of the FEFP 2016-17 

 
1

 2016-17 

Weighted FTE  Base Funding 

(2) x (3)  (WFTE x BSA x DCD) 

(4) (5)

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

 2016-17                               

Base Funding                          

(WFTE x BSA x DCD) 

-$                                 

-$                                 

-$                                 

-$                                 

-$                                 

-$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

0.0000 -$                                 

Grade Level

Matrix 

Level

Guarantee Per 

Student

PK-3 251 975$                 -$                                 

PK-3 252 3,147$              -$                                 

PK-3 253 6,422$              -$                                 

4-8 251 1,093$              -$                                 

4-8 252 3,265$              -$                                 

4-8 253 6,540$              -$                                 

9-12 251 778$                 -$                                 

9-12 252 2,950$              -$                                 

9-12 253 6,225$              -$                                 

-$                                 

0.00 ÷ District's Total UFTE:

=

0.00 ÷ District's Total WFTE:

=

(b) 7,793,983 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(d) -$                                 

Charter schools on the list of 300 lowest performing elementary schools should contact their school district sponsor to obtain additional funds.

(b) 3,296,072 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(b)(e) 951,673 x 0.0000% -$                                 

Program

Letters in Parentheses Refer to Notes at Bottom of Worksheet:

28,816.86

31,022.45

Advanced Placement

Small District ESE Supplement

International Baccalaureate

Advanced International Certificate

Additional Funding from the ESE 

Guaranteed Allocation. Enter the FTE from 

111,112 and 113 by grade and matrix level.  

Students who do not have a matrix level 

should be considered 251.  This total should 

equal all FTE from programs 111, 112 and 

113 above.

6.   Digital Classrooms Allocation (UFTE share)

2.   ESE Guaranteed Allocation:

0.00

Total Base Funding

Additional Base Funds

5.   Discretionary Millage Compression Allocation

FTE

Total Funded Weighted FTE 

Total Additional FTE

4.   Supplemental Academic Instruction (UFTE share)

.748 Mills (UFTE share)

Industry Certified Career Education

Early High School Graduation

300 Lowest Performing Schools Allocation

101 Basic K-3

111 Basic K-3 with ESE Services

102 Basic 4-8

112 Basic 4-8 with ESE Services

103 Basic 9-12

Total ESE Guarantee

3.607

3.607

5.376

Totals

255 ESE Level 5 (Grade Level 9-12)

130 ESOL (Grade Level PK-3)

130 ESOL (Grade Level 4-8)

130 ESOL (Grade Level 9-12)

254 ESE Level 4 (Grade Level 4-8)

254 ESE Level 4 (Grade Level 9-12)

255 ESE Level 5 (Grade Level PK-3 )

254 ESE Level 4 (Grade Level PK-3 )

113 Basic 9-12 with ESE Services

1.103

1.103

1.000

1.000

1.001

1.001

255 ESE Level 5 (Grade Level 4-8)

300 Career Education (Grades 9-12)

3.607

5.376

5.376

1.194

1.194

(Insert district number in cell A1, enter, then strike F9. Your district data then pulls from Calculation Detail Sheets)

1.   2016-17 FEFP State and Local Funding

District Cost Differential: 0.9751Base Student Allocation

School District: 

Based on the 2016-17 FEFP Second Calculation

$4,160.71

 Revenue Estimate Worksheet for___________Charter School 

Alachua

Program Cost Factor
(3)(1)

Number of FTE
(2)

1.194

1.001

0.0000%

 UFTE share.           Charter School UFTE: 

 WFTE share.          Charter School WFTE: 

3B. Divide school's Weighted FTE (WFTE) total computed in Section 1, cell E37 above by the district's total WFTE to obtain school's

0.00

Total FTE with ESE Services

3A. Divide school's Unweighted FTE (UFTE) total computed in Section 1, cell C27 above by the district's total UFTE to obtain school's

0.0000%

Additional FTE (a)

Number of FTE
Charter schools should contact their school district sponsor regarding eligible FTE. 

Please note that “Number of FTE” is NOT equivalent to number of students enrolled in 

these courses or programs. Please refer to footnote (a) below.
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(b) 809,692 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(b) 2,248,787 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(f) -$                                 

-$                                 

Charter schools should contact their school district sponsor regarding eligibility and distribution of ESE Applications funds.

(c) 0 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(c) 0 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(c) 1,322,976 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(c) 9,941,410 x 0.0000% -$                                 

(c) (58,128) x 0.0000% -$                                 

(c) 0 x 0.0000% -$                                 

PK - 3 0.0000 1,321.49 = 0

4-8 0.0000 901.39 = 0

9-12 0.0000 903.56 = 0

Total * 0.0000 -$                                 

(g)

 x 380 -$                                 

 x 1,408 -$                                 

(h)

Impact Aide 

Student 

Allocation Total

$0.00 -$                                 

$0.00 -$                                 

$0.00 -$                                 

-$                                 

(i) -$                                 

(j) -$                                 

-$                                 

(k)

-$                                 

(d) Additional funds are provided within the Supplemental Academic Instruction Allocation to support an additional hour of reading instruction in the 300 lowest 

performing elementary schools pursuant to s. 1011.62(1)(f),F.S. Charter schools that are on the list of 300 lowest performing elementary schools ould consult their 

district sponsor to obtain these additional funds. 

Exempt Property 

Allocation

Students with Disabilities

Total

8.   Instructional Materials Allocation (UFTE share)

7.   Safe Schools Allocation (UFTE share)

Other:

(k) Consistent with s. 1002.33(20)(a), F.S., for charter schools with a population of 75% or more ESE students, the administrative fee shall be calculated based on 

unweighted full-time equivalent students. 

Total

(i) Teacher Classroom Supply Assistance Program allocation pursuant to s. 1012.71, F.S., for certified teachers employed by a public school district or public charter 

school before September 1 of each year whose full-time or job-share responsibility is the classroom instruction of students in prekindergarten through grade 12, 

including full-time media specialists and certified school counselors serving students in prekindergarten through grade 12, who are funded through the FEFP.

FEFP and categorical funding are recalculated during the year to reflect the revised number of full-time equivalent students reported during the survey periods designated 

by the Commissioner of Education.

(g)  Numbers entered here will be multiplied by the district level transportation funding per rider. "All Adjusted Fundable Riders" should include both basic and ESE 

Riders. "All Adjusted ESE Riders" should include only ESE Riders.

For high performing charter schools, administrative fees charged by the school district shall be calculated based upon 2% of available funds from the FEFP and  

categorical funding for which charter students may be eligible.  For charter schools with a population of 251 or more students the difference in the fee calculation and the 

fee withheld may only be used for capital outlay purposes specified in s. 1013.62(3), F.S.  To calculate the administrative fee to be withheld for schools with more than 250 

students, divide the school population into 250. Multiply that fraction times the funds available, then times 2%.  

Administrative fees:

NOTES:

If you have more than a 75% ESE student population, please place a 1 in the following box:

(j) Funding based on student eligibility and meals provided, if participating in the National School Lunch Program. 

Revenues flow to districts from state sources and from county tax collectors on various distribution schedules.

20.  Funding for the purpose of calculating the administrative fee for ESE charter schools.

(f) School districts are required to pay for instructional materials used for the instruction of public high school students who are earning credit toward high school 

graduation under the dual enrollment program as provided in s. 1011.62(1)(i), F.S.  

(c) District allocations multiplied by percentage from item 3B.

Administrative fees charged by the school district pursuant to s. 1002.33(20)(a), F.S., shall be calculated based upon 5% of available funds from the FEFP and categorical 

funding for which charter students may be eligible.  For charter schools with a population of 251 or more students the difference in the fee calculation and the fee withheld 

may only be used for capital outlay purposes specified in s. 1013.62(3), F.S.  To calculate the administrative fee to be withheld for schools with more than 250 students, 

divide the school population into 250. Multiply that fraction times the funds available, then times 5%.  

(b) District allocations multiplied by percentage from item 3A.

10.  Sparsity Supplement (WFTE share)

Civilians on Federal Lands

Enter All Adjusted Fundable Riders

$0.00

$0.00

18.  Florida Teachers Classroom Supply Assistance Program

(a) Additional FTE includes FTE earned through Advanced Placement, International Baccalaureate, Advanced International Certificate of Education, Industry 

Certified Career Education (CAPE), Early High School Graduation and the small district ESE Supplement, pursuant to s. 1011.62(1)(l-p), F.S. 

Impact Aid Student Type Number of Students

17.  Federally Connected Student Supplement

19.  Food Service Allocation

Military and Indian Lands

Enter All Adjusted ESE Riders

16.  Student Transportation

13.  Proration to Funds Available (WFTE share)

14.  Discretionary Lottery (WFTE share)

ESE Applications Allocation: 

11.  Reading Allocation (WFTE share)

Weighted FTE (not including Add-On)

15.  Class Size Reduction Funds:

(h) The Federally Connected Student Supplement provides additional funding for students on federal lands that receive Section 8003 impact aide pursuant to s. 

1011.62(13), F.S. 

(e) The Digital Classroom Allocation is provided pursuant to s. 1011.62(12), F.S., and requires that charter schools submit a digital classrooms plan to their school 

district for approval by the Department of Education prior to distribution of funds.

(*Total FTE should equal total in Section 1, column (4) and should not include any additional FTE from Section 1.)

Allocation factors

Total Class Size Reduction Funds

0.9751

0.9751

0.9751

12.  Discretionary Local Effort (WFTE share)

X             DCD            X

9.   Declining Enrollment (WFTE share)

Dual Enrollment Instructional Materials Allocation
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EXHIBIT XII – AUDIT REPORT SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

DISTRICT SCHOOL BOARD, CHARTER SCHOOL AND SIMILAR ENTITY, 

FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL (INCLUDING FLORIDA VIRTUAL SCHOOL 

GLOBAL), AND VIRTUAL INSTRUCTION PROGRAM PROVIDER 

AUDIT REPORT SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

 
 
Entity Name:  _______________________________________________________________ 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
  
Entity Address:  _____________________________________________________________ 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 __________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Entity Contact Person:  

Name: _______________________________________________________________ 
Title:  _______________________________________________________________ 
Phone Number:  _______________________________________________________ 
E-mail Address:  _______________________________________________________ 

 
CPA or Other (if applicable): 

Name: _______________________________________________________________ 
Title:  _______________________________________________________________ 
Phone Number:  _______________________________________________________ 
E-mail Address:  _______________________________________________________ 

 
Fiscal Year Audited:  _________________________________________________________ 
 
Date the auditor delivered the audit report to the entity: ______________________________ 
 
Does the audit report include the following items required by Sections 10.806(2) or 10.856(2), 
Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable? 
 
_______  Financial statements, as described in Sections 10.805(3) and 10.855(3) - (8), Rules of 

the Auditor General, as applicable, together with related notes to financial 
statements? 

_______  Required supplementary information such as the management’s discussion and 
analysis? 

_______  The auditor’s report on the financial statements? 

_______  The auditor’s report on internal control and compliance? 

_______  If applicable, the auditor’s reports and related financial information required pursuant 
to the Federal Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996, Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements of Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); or other applicable 
Federal law? 
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_______  The management letter defined in Sections 10.804(1)(f) and 10.854(1)(e), Rules of 
the Auditor General, as applicable? 

_______  The written statement of explanation or rebuttal required by Sections 10.807(1) and 
10.857(2), Rules of the Auditor General, as applicable? 

_______  For district school boards that had an impact fee adopted by ordinance on their 
behalf, an “affidavit” signed and sworn to by the chief financial officer before an officer 
authorized to administer oaths (e.g., notary public) stating that the ordinance complied 
with the requirements of Section 163.31801, Florida Statutes? 

 
In addition to the above, have the following requirements been complied with: 
 
_______  Are all of the above elements of the audit report included in a single document as 

required by Sections 10.806(2) and 10.856(2), Rules of the Auditor General, as 
applicable? 

_______  Are one paper copy and one electronic copy of the audit report being submitted as 
required by Sections 10.807(3) and 10.857(4), Rules of the Auditor General, as 
applicable?   

_______ Is the electronic copy named using all lower case letters as follows:  [fiscal year] 
[name of entity].pdf?  For example, the converted document for the 2016-17 fiscal 
year for Alachua County District School Board should be named 2017 alachua county 
dsb.pdf, while the converted document for the 2016-17 fiscal year for Alachua 
Learning Center, Inc. should be named 2017 alachua learning center.pdf.  If the 
charter school goes by a DBA (doing business as), use the DBA in the file name.     

_______  Was the audit report submitted within 45 days after receipt of the audit report from the 
auditor, but no later than 9 months after the end of the fiscal year?  NOTE:  There is 
no provision in law authorizing an extension for filing the audit report. 

 
This checklist should accompany the audit report.  It is suggested that you retain a copy of 
the checklist for your files. Do not hesitate to contact us if assistance or clarification is needed 
regarding reporting requirements.  Our contact information is as follows: 
 

Auditor General 
Local Government Audits/342 

Claude Pepper Building, Room 401 
111 West Madison Street 

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 
 

Telephone: (850) 412-2881 
Fax: (850) 488-6975 

E-mail Address: flaudgen_dsb_charter@aud.state.fl.us 
Web site Address: www.myflorida.com/audgen 

 

mailto:flaudgen_dsb_charter@aud.state.fl.us
http://www.myflorida.com/audgen
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APPENDIX II - WEB ADDRESSES 

 

The following are a collection of Web sites mentioned throughout this guide: 

 

Florida Administrative Weekly and Florida Administrative Code https://www.flrules.org/ 

 

Florida Attorney General’s Web site at http://myfloridalegal.com/opinions 

 

Florida Auditor General’s Web site at http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/  

 

Florida Department of Education Green Book (http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-

grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml) 

 

Florida Department of Education Redbook http://www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp 

 

Florida State Constitution, Laws of Florida, and Florida Statutes.  

http://www.leg.state.fl.us. 

 

Government Auditing Standards 2011 Revision (Yellow Book) 

http://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf 

 

https://www.flrules.org/
http://myfloridalegal.com/opinions
http://www.myflorida.com/audgen/
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml
http://www.fldoe.org/finance/contracts-grants-procurement/grants-management/project-application-amendment-procedur.stml
http://www.fldoe.org/fefp/redtoc.asp
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/
http://www.gao.gov/assets/590/587281.pdf

